Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Alexa Kondas

April 7, 2025

by

Alexa Kondas

Negar Fani, PhD

Adviser

Department of Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Negar Fani, PhD

Adviser

Ali Cohen, PhD

Committee Member

Mar Sanchez, PhD

Committee Member

2025

by

Alexa Kondas

Negar Fani, PhD

Adviser

An abstract of

a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences

of Emory University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of

Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Department of Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

By Alexa Kondas

Dissociation is a common trauma response to trauma linked to functional brain disruptions in brain networks subserving emotion regulation and multisensory integration; however, structural neural correlates of dissociation are less known, particularly abnormalities in stress-sensitive white matter (WM) tracts. The present study examined associations between dissociation and WM microstructure, assessed via fractional anisotropy (FA), in a large, diverse sample of women recruited as part of a long-standing trauma study, the Grady Trauma Project (GTP). As part of GTP, 135 trauma-exposed women (18-62 years old, M = 34.25, SD = 12.96, 84% self-identifying as Black) were recruited, received diffusion-weighted imaging, and completed the Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI); FA values were extracted from ten major WM tracts of interest. Partial correlations were conducted to examine associations between dissociation facets (MDI total and subscales) and FA while covarying age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio; false discovery rate corrected p < .05 indicated statistical significance. FA in seven tracts showed significant negative associations with overall dissociation (MDI total score; rs < -.19, $p_{FDR} < .05$); the corona radiata, corpus callosum, superior longitudinal fasciculus, thalamic radiation, anterior cingulum, fornix, and uncinate fasciculus. Among facets of dissociation, FA was most consistently associated with dissociative memory disturbance, showing a significant and negative association with all but one of tracts of interest, (rs < -.23), $p_{\text{FDR}} < .05$). Our findings indicated that dissociation severity was linked to proportionally lesser WM microstructural integrity in tracts involved with sensory integration, emotion regulation, memory, and self-referential processing. Disruptions in these pathways may underlie dissociative phenomena, representing important psychotherapeutic and neuromodulatory targets.

by

Alexa Kondas

Negar Fani, PhD

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences

of Emory University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of

Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Department of Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Negar Fani and postdoc mentor Dr. Timonthy McDermott for their endless help and support with this project. I would also like to thank Dr. Ali Cohen and Dr. Mar Sanchez for serving on my committee. I thank Dr. Vishwadeep Ahluwalia for all his help with processing white matter data and being a non-core member of my committee. I also thank the principal investigators, lab managers, and research assistants of the Grady Trauma Project and the Fani Affective Neuroscience Laboratory for their assistance with data collection and funding acquisition: Maya Karkare, Alfonsina Guelfo, Alexandra Daube, Dr. Bekh Bradley, Dr. Abigail Powers, Dr. Jennifer Stevens, Dr. Kerry Ressler, and Dr. Greg Siegle. Finally, I thank my participants for generously offering their time and commitment to this study.

Table of Contents

1. Disclosure
2. Abstract
3. Introduction
3.1. Models of Dissociation
3.2. Neurobiology of Dissociation
3.2.1. Neurocircuitry of Fear
3.2.2. Triple Network Model and Relations to PTSD and Dissociation
3.2.3. Other Neurobiological Models of PTSD and Dissociation
3.2.4. White Matter and Dissociation
3.3. Current Study 10
4. Methods
4.1. Participants and Procedure
4.2. Clinical Assessments
4.2.1. Exploratory Clinical Assessments
4.3. MRI Acquisition and Image Processing
4.4. Statistical Analyses
4.4.1. Exploratory Statistical Analyses
5. Results
5.1. Primary Analysis
5.2. Secondary Analyses
5.3. Sensitivity Analyses
5.4. Exploratory Analyses
6. Discussion
6.1. Review of Study
6.2. Previous Literature
6.3. Primary and Secondary Analyses
6.3.1. Sensitivity Analyses

6.3.2. Exploratory Analyses
6.4. Implications
6.5. Limitations and Future Directions
6.6. Conclusion
7. References
Table 1. Types of traumas experienced by percentage and frequency
Table 2. Scanner details and acquisition parameters 52
Figure 1. Masks of white matter pathways of interest
Table 3. Mean and standard deviation of tSNR values and fractional anisotropy for all tracts, allscanners, before harmonization
Table 4. Clinical and Demographic Characteristics (N=135)
Table 5. Correlations between harmonized PTSD symptom scores and Multiscale DissociationInventory Subscale Scores.57
Table 6. Correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and clinical anddemographic characteristics
Figure 2. Associations among dissociation and white matter microstructure (<i>N</i> =135) 59
Figure 3. Significant associations among dissociation symptoms and tract FA
Table 7. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and MultiscaleDissociation Inventory scores with age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio as covariates
Table 8. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and MultiscaleDissociation Inventory scores with age, temporal signal-to-noise ratio, and harmonized PCL-5scores as covariates.64
Table 9. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and MultiscaleDissociation Inventory scores with age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio as covariates includingonly participants who identified as Black
Table 10. Mediation analyses examining MDI score as a mediator of the relationship betweenPCL-5 score and harmonized tract FA.68
Table 11. Mediation analyses examining PCL-5 score as a mediator of the relationship betweenMDI score and harmonized tract FA.69
Table 12. Partial correlations between Multiscale Dissociation Inventory scores and Letter N-Back Task Performance and CAPS-5 item D1 severity with age as a covariate

1. Disclosure

Portions of the thesis were published in *Psychiatry Research* and are reprinted here with permission of the journal.

Kondas, A., McDermott, T. J., Ahluwalia, V., Haller, O. C., Karkare, M. C., Guelfo, A., Daube,

A., Bradley, B., Powers, A., Stevens, J. S., Ressler, K. J., Siegle, G. J., & Fani, N. (2024).
White matter correlates of dissociation in a diverse sample of trauma-exposed women. *Psychiatry research*, 342, 116231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2024.116231</u>

2. Abstract

Dissociation is a common trauma response to trauma linked to functional brain disruptions in brain networks subserving emotion regulation and multisensory integration; however, structural neural correlates of dissociation are less known, particularly abnormalities in stress-sensitive white matter (WM) tracts. The present study examined associations between dissociation and WM microstructure, assessed via fractional anisotropy (FA), in a large, diverse sample of women recruited as part of a long-standing trauma study, the Grady Trauma Project (GTP). As part of GTP, 135 trauma-exposed women (18-62 years old, M = 34.25, SD = 12.96, 84% self-identifying as Black) were recruited, received diffusion-weighted imaging, and completed the Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI); FA values were extracted from ten major WM tracts of interest. Partial correlations were conducted to examine associations between dissociation facets (MDI total and subscales) and FA while covarying age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio; false discovery rate corrected p < .05 indicated statistical significance. FA in seven tracts showed significant negative associations with overall dissociation (MDI total score; rs < -.19, $p_{FDR} <$.05); the corona radiata, corpus callosum, superior longitudinal fasciculus, thalamic radiation, anterior cingulum, fornix, and uncinate fasciculus. Among facets of dissociation, FA was most consistently associated with dissociative memory disturbance, showing a significant and negative association with all but one of tracts of interest, (rs < -.23, $p_{FDR} < .05$). Our findings indicated that dissociation severity was linked to proportionally lesser WM microstructural integrity in tracts involved with sensory integration, emotion regulation, memory, and self-referential processing. Disruptions in these pathways may underlie dissociative phenomena, representing important psychotherapeutic and neuromodulatory targets.

3. Introduction

Despite years of discussion on dissociation, it still remains one of the most controversial and least understood aspects of mental health. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) defines dissociation as "a disruption of and/or discontinuity in the normal integration of consciousness, memory, identity, emotion, perception, body representation, motor control, and behavior" (APA, 2013). Dissociation can take on many forms of mental dysfunction, such as dissociative amnesia, depersonalization (detachment from the body), derealization (detachment from one's surroundings), and identity confusion (Sar, 2014). Dissociation symptoms are often categorized into two different types: nonpathological and pathological dissociation. Nonpathological dissociation consists of everyday dissociative experiences that are present in the absence of psychopathology (Ellickson-Larew et al., 2020; Sar, 2022), with transient dissociation being relatively common (Hunter et al., 2004). On the other hand, pathological dissociation encompasses dissociative symptoms that occur frequently with negative impacts, comprising about 3.3% of the general population (Waller & Ross, 1997). Risk factors for pathological dissociation, or a dissociative disorder, include trauma or prolonged exposure to highly stressful events, drug use, sleep deprivation, harm avoidance, and immature defense mechanisms (APA, 2013; Selvi et al., 2015).

Because dissociation is normally accompanied by exposure to traumatic or stressful events, it has been primarily linked to posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), which is significant distress and impairment following a traumatic event, including avoidance of associated stimuli and negative changes in cognition, mood, and reactivity; these symptoms can sometimes include dissociative symptoms, warranting the dissociative subtype diagnosis that about 12-30% of individuals with PTSD meet the criteria for (APA, 2013; Lanius et al., 2012). Additionally, dissociation that occurs during trauma (peritraumatic dissociation) significantly increases the risk of developing severe/chronic PTSD (Atchley & Bedford, 2021; Lebois, Harnett, et al., 2022).

Other negative effects of dissociation include decreased mental and physical health as well as an increased likelihood of psychiatric hospitalization and suicide attempts (Simeon & Putnam, 2022). Persistent, clinically-significant dissociation has major public health consequences, reducing quality of life and leading to significant disability in many individuals (Brand & Lanius, 2014; Leonard et al., 2005; Polizzi et al., 2022; Webermann et al., 2016). People with marginalized identities, including minoritized racial/ethnic groups, tend to report higher rates of dissociation (Douglas, 2009). Racial discrimination, a chronic stressor for racially/ethnically marginalized populations, has been repeatedly linked to dissociation (Fani & Khalsa, 2023; Harb et al., 2023), and clinically-significant dissociation is also more frequently reported in women (Atilan Fedai & Asoglu, 2022).

3.1. Models of Dissociation

To better understand dissociation, two different models have been proposed. The first, and perhaps most widely supported, theory is the Trauma Model (Bremner, 2010; van Ijzendoorn & Schuengel, 1996), which holds that dissociation may be a useful adaptation in the face of intense trauma. Particularly with chronic traumatic stressors, such as recurring childhood sexual maltreatment and racial discrimination (Amore & Serafini, 2020; Bolduc et al., 2019; Spiegel et al., 2011) dissociation can provide a psychological escape when physical escape is either highly risky or impossible (Boyer et al., 2022; Sel, 1997). This has been proposed as an inverted Ushaped defense mechanism "cascade" response to traumatic threats: "freeze, flight, fight, fright, flag, faint." The first and last stages of this cascade dip below baseline arousal to dissociative states, while the other four represent fear responses controlled by heightened arousal. The upwards half of the cascade contains the typical "flight-or-fight" responses of hyperarousal and hypervigilance, but the initial "freeze" response is dissociative in nature. On the other hand, the downward portion contains the dissociative symptoms or a "shut-down state" that may occur when sympathetic arousal fails or is more dangerous (Lanius et al., 2018; Schauer & Elbert, 2010). While dissociation may be adaptive at the time, when it becomes entrenched, it can disrupt attentional control, sensory awareness, and memory encoding/retrieval (O. Özdemir et al., 2015), resulting in persistent dissociation and associated psychopathology.

Support for the Trauma Model dates back as early as 1889, in which Pierre Janet said that dissociation was an important defense mechanism used to keep overwhelming traumatic experiences from conscious memory (van der Kolk, 1989). However, some individuals have disagreed with this model, resulting in the creation of another theory. This alternative model, the sociocognitive or fantasy model, suggests that dissociation may be the result of social expectations, heightened suggestibility, fantasy proneness, and cognitive distortions (Giesbrecht et al., 2008). This model widens the scope of dissociation to include individuals who have not experienced trauma but may experience dissociation in response to everyday stressors. Together, these models contribute to a multifactorial understanding of dissociation, in which trauma plays a significant role but also interacts with cognitive deficits and social influences to facilitate pathological dissociation (Lynn et al., 2014).

3.2. Neurobiology of Dissociation

Despite the extensive impact of dissociative phenomena, particularly in marginalized populations of women, there has been proportionally less empirical attention to the neurobiological features of dissociation; consequently, there is a lack of mechanistically-informed treatments for these problems (Sar, 2014). Despite the lack of research, extant

neurobiological models of dissociation in the context of trauma implicate abnormal functional connectivity within pathways involved with emotion regulation, sensation, and social cognition (Menon, 2021; Sierra & Berrios, 1998).

3.2.1. Neurocircuitry of Fear

During exposure to threat, sensory information travels to the "fear matrix" through relay stations such as the thalamus. This matrix includes regulatory structures such as the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, as well as integrative response structures like the amygdala. This circuit is highly adaptive and biologically conserved, while also flexible. This can be seen in typical "fight-or-flight" responses, where excitatory neurotransmitters are released with the defense response. However, when this stimulation of glutamate and dopamine is excessive, endocannabinoids are released to dampen the fear response, seen as the dissociative "freeze" (Riebe et al., 2012). This is supported by the fact that individuals with less released endocannabinoids exhibit more hyperarousal symptoms and increased attention to threat (Pietrzak et al., 2014).

During chronic and prolonged exposure to threat, active defense mechanisms controlled by the sympathetic nervous system become unsustainable. This is when tonic immobility or the "shut-down state" takes over, resulting in dissociative inhibition of motor responses and reduced awareness of external stimuli. This response is controlled by the parasympathetic nervous system and opioid-mediated analgesia, where the kappa-opioid system shuts down the body so that it can take time to heal without experiencing pain, both physical and emotional. This is thought to be related to the inhibition of the thalamus so that sensory signals do not reach the cortex (Lanius et al., 2018).

3.2.2. Triple Network Model and Relations to PTSD and Dissociation

Psychopathology often involves dysfunction of cognitive and emotion regulation processes reliant on several functional networks within the brain. One of the major theories of connected networks within psychopathology is the triple network model, which implicates the central executive network (CEN) or frontoparietal network (FPN), the default mode network (DMN), and the salience network (SN). The CEN/FPN is involved in working memory, problemsolving, and decision-making, the DMN in memory, emotion regulation, and self-referential mental processes, and the SN in integrating interoceptive, autonomic, and emotional information. The SN acts as an interface between the CEN/FPN and DMN to balance internal mental processes with external cognitive and affective processes (Menon, 2011).

This model has been used to understand the neurobiology of many psychiatric and neurological disorders. Dissociation within the context of PTSD has been associated with hyperconnectivity between the three networks of the triple network model (Lebois, Kumar, et al., 2022) as well as with hyperconnectivity between the amygdala and prefrontal regions including the DMN (Nicholson et al., 2015). More severe trauma-related dissociation symptoms have also been associated with greater connectivity between the DMN and the CEN/FPN, which may suggest maladaptive integration of internal mental processes such as regulating goal-directed behaviors and autobiographical planning (Lebois et al., 2021).

3.2.3. Other Neurobiological Models of PTSD and Dissociation

One integrative model for dissociative symptoms comes from the emotion modulation theory of PTSD (Lanius et al., 2010). According to this model, hyperarousal and re-experiencing symptoms of PTSD are associated with emotional undermodulation, which consists of low activity of the medial prefrontal cortex and failure to inhibit the corticolimbic regions. On the

7

other hand, dissociative symptoms can be seen as the opposite, in which emotional overmodulation results in excessive inhibition of corticolimbic regions. Research has shown that individuals with the dissociative subtype of PTSD exhibit increased recruitment of neural regions involved in executive control, particularly heightened activation of the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex and medial prefrontal cortex, both involved in modulating arousal and emotion, alongside relatively attenuated activation in limbic regions such as the amygdala (Lanius et al., 2010). These findings suggest that trauma-exposed individuals with more dissociative symptoms rely more heavily on prefrontal mechanisms to regulate arousal, potentially as a compensatory response to extreme and chronic threat.

Dissociative disturbances following trauma have also been linked to abnormal amygdala and prefrontal functional connectivity with the insula (Fani et al., 2018; Harricharan et al., 2020; Rabellino, Densmore, Harricharan, et al., 2018), thalamus (Krystal et al., 1995; Yoshii, 2021), cerebellum (Rabellino, Densmore, Theberge, et al., 2018), and brainstem nuclei (Harricharan et al., 2017). This may lead to disruptions in interoceptive awareness—the conscious detection of afferent visceral signals—which, in turn, can disrupt emotion regulation. The temporoparietal junction has additionally been proposed as a key structure in dissociation due to its role in bodily awareness (Orru et al., 2021), and altered functional connectivity in temporoparietal pathways connecting to this structure has been shown in individuals with elevated dissociation (Harricharan et al., 2016; Olive et al., 2018; Rabellino, Densmore, Theberge, et al., 2018).

3.2.4. White Matter and Dissociation

Although functional neuroimaging studies have provided insights into alterations in brain activation and/or functional connectivity patterns that characterize dissociation, strikingly few studies have examined structural neural features of dissociation, particularly white matter (WM),

which has a protracted period of development and is sensitive to the effects of stress/trauma (Chen et al., 2013; Honey et al., 2010; Reber et al., 2021). Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is often used to examine WM microstructure; fractional anisotropy (FA) is a commonly used metric derived from DTI that reflects the strength of directionality of water diffusion (anisotropy) in myelinated WM tracts, with higher values representing greater WM microstructural integrity (Fox et al., 2012; Le Bihan et al., 2001; Mori & Zhang, 2006).

The three extant studies of WM in dissociation had small sample sizes (*Ns*~30-52) and comprised all European participants (race was not reported). One study revealed significantly lower FA in the right anterior corona radiata in individuals with dissociative disorders (Kandemir et al., 2016). Another study found that individuals with depersonalization/derealization disorder showed altered microstructural integrity in temporoparietal and frontolimbic pathways involved in multimodal integration and emotion regulation (Sierk et al., 2018). A third study compared individuals with the dissociative subtype of PTSD with a non-dissociative PTSD group and found lower FA in connections between the amygdala, hippocampus, and thalamus, but higher FA in connections between the putamen, pallidum, and ventral diencephalon, as well as connections between the left thalamus, hippocampus and brainstem (Sierk et al., 2021).

As such, functional and structural neuroimaging studies of dissociation reveal alterations within pathways involved in multisensory integration, autonomic processes, emotion regulation, and memory (Lotfinia et al., 2020); this includes WM disruptions, particularly in the anterior corona radiata (Kandemir et al., 2016) and pathways connecting the amygdala, hippocampus, thalamus, basal ganglia, and brainstem (Sierk et al., 2021). The limited WM studies had small samples, focused on WM tracts within a limited scope (e.g., single hemisphere, less than four tracts), and included predominantly European populations. Given that dissociation is a common

and disabling phenomenon that affects many individuals, particularly people who have experienced multiple types of adversity/marginalization (Douglas, 2009), it is imperative to include racially and ethnically marginalized populations in dissociation neuroimaging research. Further, previous studies largely focused on dissociative disorders rather than transdiagnostic dissociation and its facets, which has relevance to a broad range of psychiatric disorders.

2.3. Current Study

Thus, in this study, we examined associations between dissociative symptoms and WM microstructural integrity, assessed via FA, in a large sample (N = 135) of trauma-exposed, majority Black, women who were recruited as part of a long-standing study of trauma, the Grady Trauma Project (GTP) (Gillespie et al., 2009; Schwartz et al., 2005). While not fully generalizable to the general public, GTP's population includes individuals at high risk for dissociation and of a demographic typically excluded from neuroimaging research, making it an ideal sample for expanding dissociation WM research. WM tracts of interest were selected *a priori* based on their relevance to dissociation, trauma, and PTSD in prior studies (Kandemir et al., 2016; Lotfinia et al., 2020; Sierk et al., 2018; Sierk et al., 2021). This includes tracts involved in sensorimotor integration (corona radiata, corpus callosum, internal and external capsule, thalamic radiation, and superior longitudinal fasciculus), emotion regulation (uncinate fasciculus and anterior and posterior cingulum), and memory (fornix).

We examined associations between overall dissociative symptom severity and FA of these pathways; we also conducted secondary analyses to examine potential associations of FA with facets of dissociation, including Disengagement, Depersonalization, Derealization, Emotional Constriction, Memory Disturbance, and Identity Dissociation. Given inconsistent findings in previous literature, we refrained from making directional hypotheses. We also conducted additional sensitivity and exploratory analyses to better understand our results and the relationship between WM microstructural integrity, dissociation, and PTSD symptoms. Given the strong linear relationship between PTSD and dissociation symptoms (r =.70, p < .001) and the fact that dissociation accompanies PTSD in many individuals (Nijenhuis & van der Hart, 2011; Zucker et al., 2006), collinearity may have influenced the results, which could increase the risk of type II error, so PTSD was not included in the initial analyses. However, for completeness, a sensitivity analysis was conducted that included PTSD symptoms as a covariate. Additionally, given that a large percentage of our participants (84%) identified as Black, a sensitivity analysis identical to the primary and secondary analyses was conducted, except only including Black participants.

To further explore the relationship between dissociation and PTSD symptoms in the context of WM microstructure, sensitivity mediation analyses were conducted: with dissociation and PTSD symptoms both serving as mediators. Finally, exploratory analyses were conducted to better understand the memory facet of dissociation. Given the many different types of memory (Camina & Guell, 2017), we examined the relationship between participants' Memory Disturbance subscale scores, their performance on a neuropsychological test of working memory, and self-reported difficulties remembering aspects of their trauma; this analysis aimed to better identify the specific type of memory assessed by the subscale.

4. Methods

4.1. Participants and Procedure

Clinical and neuroimaging data from 139 adult women (assigned female at birth) were collected as part of GTP (study dates ranging from 2012-2023); however, four individuals were excluded from analyses due to data quality issues resulting in a final sample of 135 women aged

18 to 62 (M = 34.25, SD = 12.96). Participants were recruited from medical clinics at a publicly funded hospital in Atlanta, Georgia (i.e., Grady Hospital), as well as community advertisements. The sample included 87 participants from prior GTP studies that primarily recruited women (MH101380, MH071537, MH094757) and 48 participants from an ongoing GTP clinical trial for dissociation (Mechanistic Interventions and Neuroscience of Dissociation, MIND; NCT04670640). DTI data from 80 of these participants (59% of total sample) has been published previously in association with PTSD symptoms and racial discrimination (Fani et al., 2022; Fani et al., 2012; Fani et al., 2014; Fani et al., 2016; Haller et al., 2023).

Exclusion criteria for GTP studies were as follows: 1) younger than 18 years of age or older than 65 years of age; 2) currently at risk for suicide, experiencing active psychosis, or cognitively compromised (e.g., intoxication, severe intellectual disability). Inclusion criteria for these studies were as follows: trauma exposure, as defined by the *DSM-IV* (APA, 1994)/*DSM-5* (APA, 2013) Criterion A stressors; age >= 18 years but <= 65 years; the ability to understand English (assessed by a study researcher); willingness to provide informed consent. All participants were screened prior to consent into their respective studies to assess eligibility for clinical trials. Since participants were largely recruited from the GTP and extant projects were recruiting Black women only (e.g., MH101380), a majority of the sample was Black women.

All participants in the current study completed a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan; MRI exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) non-removable ferrous material, 2) prolonged loss of consciousness, and 3) a history of neurological conditions or injuries including strokes, seizures, traumatic brain injury, or history of any disorder with central nervous system involvement (e.g., HIV). Exclusion criteria for the intervention studies were the following: 1) a history of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, or primary psychotic disorder; 2) current severe alcohol or substance use disorder, as determined by clinician during diagnostic assessment. Four eligible individuals with clinical and neuroimaging data were excluded from the sample due to poor scan quality based on visual inspection (i.e., shimming artifacts, head motion; n = 3) or extreme FA values (mean FA averaged across the ten hypothesized tracts was three standard deviations below the mean; n = 1).

After informed consent was obtained, participants completed a battery of self-report demographic questionnaires (age, race/ethnicity), educational attainment, household monthly income, employment status, psychotropic medication usage) and clinical assessments (trauma exposure, PTSD, dissociation; detailed below) with the assistance of a trained researcher, followed by a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan on the same day (n = 87) or on a separate visit that occurred within one month of the initial visit (n = 48).

4.2. Clinical Assessments

The Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI) (Briere, 2002), a validated and normed 30item self-report measure, was administered to assess dissociative symptomatology. It yields a total dissociation score (possible score range = 30-150) as well as six subscales: Disengagement, Depersonalization, Derealization, Emotional Constriction/Numbing, Memory Disturbance, and Identity Dissociation (possible score range = 5-25), with higher scores indicating greater dissociative symptomatology. Each item in the MDI is rated according to its frequency of occurrence over the prior month, using a scale ranging from 1-5 with the corresponding rating scale descriptors of "never," "once or twice," "sometimes," "often," and "very often." The MDI and its subscales show good internal consistency in the general population: Disengagement (α = .83), Depersonalization (α = .90), Derealization (α = .91), Emotional Constriction/Numbing (α = .94), Memory Disturbance (α = .74), Identity Dissociation (α = .75), and Total Dissociation Score (α = .96) (Briere et al., 2005).

Trauma exposure was assessed with either of two measures: the Life Events Checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5; n = 48) (Weathers, Blake, et al., 2013) or the Traumatic Events Inventory (TEI; n = 87) (Gillespie et al., 2009). The LEC-5 is a self-report measure used to screen for exposure to 16 potential traumatic events; for each event, participants could state that the event happened to them, that they witnessed, that they learned about it, that it was part of their job, or that it does not apply (Weathers, Blake, et al., 2013). The LEC-5 is a minimal update from the LEC for DSM-IV, and while psychometrics is not available for the LEC-5, there are few expected differences. The test-retest reliability of the LEC is relatively stable overtime, with kappas ranging from .37-.84 with the mean being .61, and the retest correlation being r = .82, p < .001(Gray et al., 2004). The TEI is also used to assess trauma exposure and was developed in the context of the GTP, assessing 13 different traumas, as detailed previously (Gillespie et al., 2009). For each event, participants could state that they experienced or witnessed the event, as well as elaborate on the number of times and the ages at which the events occurred. For both trauma exposure measures, total trauma exposure was calculated by summing together the number of experienced Criterion A events. Further details on the types of traumatic events experienced are listed in **Table 1**.

Given that data collection spanned both the *DSM-IV* and *DSM-5*, PTSD symptomatology was assessed with either of two measures: the PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5* (PCL-5; n = 48) (Weathers, Litz, et al., 2013) or the modified PTSD Symptom Scale (mPSS; n = 87) (Falsetti et al., 1993). For both PTSD measures, higher scores indicated greater PTSD symptom severity. To harmonize the PTSD symptom scales for use in analyses, a conversion equation created using the

combined association test with generalized additive models (ComBat-GAM) algorithm was used to convert mPSS scores to PCL-5, generating a harmonized PTSD symptom score for all participants. The equation used to convert mPSS scores to PCL-5 scores was $S_{PCL-5} = 3.081 +$ $1.216(S_{mPSS}) + 0.0077(S_{mPSS}^2)$. This equation yielded a root mean squared error of 1.54 and an R^2 of .986 (Kennedy et al., 2023).

The PCL-5 is a 20-item self-report measure used to assess *DSM-5* symptoms of PTSD (possible score range = 0-80); a shortened version of the PCL-5 without criterion A assessment was used since the LEC-5 was used to assess trauma exposure. Each item is rated according to how much the individual was bothered by it in the past month, using a 5-point Likert scale (0-4) with the corresponding rating scale descriptors of "not at all," "a little bit," "moderately," "quite a bit," and "extremely." PCL-5 total scores have shown strong internal consistency (α = .94) and test-retest reliability (r = .82) (Blevins et al., 2015). The scale also has *DSM-5* symptom cluster severity scores that are obtained by summing the scores from the items for that cluster: cluster B (items 1 - 5), cluster C (items 6 - 7), cluster D (items 8 - 14), and cluster E (items 15 - 20). The cut-off score for probable PTSD is between 31 and 33 as determined by the measure developers (Weathers, Litz, et al., 2013).

The mPSS is a 17-item self-report measure used to assess *DSM-IV* (APA, 1994) symptoms of PTSD (possible score range = 0-51). Each item on the mPSS is rated according to how upsetting the symptom was in the past two weeks on a 4-point Likert scale consisting of 0 ("not at all"), 1 ("once per week or less/a little bit/once in a while"), 2 ("two to four times per week/somewhat/half the time"), and 3 ("five or more times per week/very much/almost all the time"). mPSS total scores have shown good internal consistency (α = .94-.97) and concurrent validity with the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale (CAPS; *r* = .57-.87) (Ruglass et al., 2014).

4.2.1. Exploratory Clinical Assessments

Of the 135 participants of the primary and secondary analyses, 116 of them had completed the Letter N-Back (LNB) subtest of the Penn Web-Based Computerized Neurocognitive Battery (WebCNP) (Gur et al., 2010), used to measure attention and working memory. In this task, participants viewed a sequence of flashing letters on a computer screen and responded by pressing the spacebar according to three different conditions: 0-back, 1-back, and 2-back. In the 0-back condition, participants pressed the spacebar whenever the letter "X" appeared. In the 1-back condition, they responded when the current letter matched the one immediately before it (e.g., pressing for the second "R" in the sequence "T, R, R"). In the 2-back condition, they pressed the spacebar when the current letter matched the one presented two positions earlier (e.g., pressing for "T" in the sequence "T, G, T"). Participants had 2.5 seconds to respond in each trial. Before starting the main task, they completed a practice phase for all three conditions. Once they successfully completed the practice, they proceeded to the test phase, which consisted of three blocks of 0-back, 1-back, and 2-back conditions presented in a predetermined order. For each condition, the number of true positives, false positives (spacebar press not following the ruling principle), and median response time (in milliseconds) for correct trials was recorded. On average, the task takes 11.9 minutes to administer. Cronbach's α for accuracy and speed are 0.77 and 0.82, respectively (Cohen et al., 1999; Gur et al., 2010; Ragland et al., 2002).

Of the 135 participants of the primary and secondary analyses, 105 of them had completed the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for *DSM-5* (CAPS-5), a widely used and validated structured diagnostic interview for PTSD (Weathers et al., 2018). The item of interest within the CAPS-5 for assessing disturbances to episodic memory was D1: "Inability to remember an important aspect of the traumatic event(s) (typically due to dissociative amnesia and not to other factors such as head injury, alcohol, or drugs)." This item contains several follow up questions, and ultimately has a severity rating on a 5-point Likert scale consisting of 0 ("absent"), 1 ("mild/ subthreshold"), 2 ("moderate/threshold"), 3 ("severe/markedly elevated"), and 4 ("extreme/ incapacitating"). While this is only one measure on the scale, the CAPS-5 has good convergent validity with the previous iteration, CAPS-IV (r = .83), and the PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5* (r = .66), as well as good discriminant validity with measures of anxiety, depression, somatization, functional impairment, psychopathy, and alcohol abuse (rs = .02 to .54) (Weathers et al., 2018).

4.3. MRI Acquisition and Image Processing

MRI scans were acquired on four different research-dedicated Siemens 3-Tesla MRI systems (three Tim Trio scanners and one Prisma^{fit} scanner that underwent a software update mid-study). Scanner details and acquisition parameters for each of the five scanners used are listed in **Table 2**. Sequence parameters were altered slightly to accommodate different scanner models but were largely the same except for slight differences in the T1-weighted modality and number of axial slices. Diffusion weighting was isotropically distributed along 60 directions using a b-value of 1,000 s/mm². Four normalization images, with no diffusion encoding (b=0), were acquired and averaged for each direction using linear rigid-body registration (FLIRT) (Jenkinson et al., 2002; Jenkinson & Smith, 2001). All diffusion-weighted image processing and analysis were conducted using FMRIB Software Library (FSL version 4.1; www.fmrib.ax.ac.uk/fsl) (Woolrich et al., 2009).

Correction for head motion and eddy current distortion was performed for data from each individual participant using an automated affine registration algorithm. Normalization images

17

were skull-stripped using the FSL brain extraction tool (Smith, 2002). All data were visually inspected for artifacts (i.e., shimming artifacts, head motion), resulting in an exclusion of three participants from the initial 139. Formal quality checks were also performed on the data by calculating the temporal signal-to-noise ratio (tSNR) across each diffusion volume (Roalf et al., 2016). tSNR was calculated for each scan using the python nibabel package v.5.1 and tSNR maps were created for each participant by dividing the mean signal of the diffusion weighted data by the standard deviation of the signal, and then extracting the mean tSNR value from the map. Maps were created only using the b-value shell of 1,000 as that was the volume for diffusion weighted imaging.

FA maps were generated using the DTIfit in the FMRIB Diffusion Toolbox, and all maps were aligned for data extraction using tract based spatial statistics (TBSS; version 1.2), an approach that increases the sensitivity and interpretability of the results because it uses nonlinear registration (Smith et al., 2006). All participants' FA maps were co-registered using the non-linear registration to the most 'typical' participant's FA [as determined by FMRIB's nonlinear image registration tool (FNIRT) (Andersson et al., 2007)], then affine transformed into $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm MNI space. All transformed FA images were averaged to create a mean FA image, then thresholded by FA > 0.2 to create a WM skeleton to ensure that gray matter regions would be excluded from data extractions.

Binarized masks for the ten bilateral tracts of interest (**Figure 1**) were created and used to extract the mean FA value for each tract from each participant. The atlases used were the probabilistic Johns Hopkins University White Matter Atlas (Mori et al., 2005), the ICBM-DTI-81 white-matter labels atlas (Burgel et al., 2006), and the Juelich Histological Atlas (Burgel et al., 2006). Multiple atlases were used since all tracts of interest were not provided in a single atlas and bilateral masks were created by merging the lateralized tracts in FSLmaths. Because of differences in scanner software and acquisition parameters, there were significant mean differences (ps<.05) between the extracted FA values for each of the five scanner conditions (**Table 3**). Differences in FA and tSNR values across each scanner were harmonized using ComBat-GAM, now referred to as neuroHarmonize (Pomponio et al., 2020). Participants with extreme mean FA values (average FA for all ten tracts three standard deviations below the sample mean; n=1) were excluded from analyses.

4.4. Statistical Analyses

Using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) v.29, we first examined associations between participant demographics and overall dissociation severity (MDI total score), as well as harmonized FA data of each of the ten tracts of interest. We then examined partial correlations between harmonized FA data and MDI total and subscale scores while covarying age and harmonized tSNR. Age was included as a covariate given its potential relationship with WM microstructure (Gunning-Dixon et al., 2009; Lebel et al., 2019), and tSNR was included as a covariate to ensure associations were not driven by individual differences in data quality. To correct for multiple comparisons across all partial correlations (MDI total and subscale scores), we used false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995), with FDR-corrected p < .05 indicating statistical significance.

PTSD symptoms were not covaried in primary analyses due to multicollinearity concerns; however, for completeness, a sensitivity analysis was conducted that included harmonized PCL-5 score, age, and tSNR as covariates (FDR-corrected p < .05 indicated statistical significance). A further sensitivity analysis was conducted with only participants who identified as Black, with analyses identical to the primary and secondary analyses, except for the reduced sample. (FDR-corrected p < .05 indicated statistical significance). Sensitivity mediation analyses were also conducted to test the relationship between the FA values of the tracts of interest, harmonized PCL-5 scores, and MDI total scores: first with MDI as the mediator then with PCL-5 as the mediator. Ten thousand bootstrapped samples were used to generate a 95% confidence interval for the indirect effects, which were considered statistically significant if the confidence interval did not include zero. These mediation models were conducted using the PROCESS macro in SPSS using model 4 (Hayes, 2022). Uncorrected p < .05 was used to determine statistical significance for paths a, b, c, and c' in each mediation model.

Significant findings were noted if they fell below an α level of .005 to indicate the findings that might survive a more stringent correction (though no formal correction method was applied). Results were interpreted for each set of mediation models, whether MDI or PCL-5 was the mediator, to understand which measure better explained their overlapping relationship with FA in each of the ten tracts of interest. Note that path a for each set of models will be identical across each of the ten tracts because this is the relationship between the self-report measures and that path b from one set of models is identical to path c' from the other set of models. The primary effects of interest in these complimentary mediation models are the indirect effects, which were standardized to ensure confidence intervals had enough range to detect whether zero was included (unstandardized confidence in PROCESS were most frequently output as .0000 in these models due to FA values being quite small). The other effects of interest were path b and path c' (direct effects).

4.4.1. Exploratory Statistical Analyses

To assess the relationship between working memory and dissociation, MDI total score and all subscales were correlated with the number of true positives, number of false positives, and reaction time for each condition of the LNB. To assess the relationship between traumaspecific episodic memory and dissociation, MDI total score and all subscales were correlated with the item D1 CAPS-5 severity rating. Given the established trend of age-related decline in working (Kirova et al., 2015) and episodic memory (Kinugawa et al., 2013), these relationships were assessed using partial correlations while covarying age. For these exploratory analyses, p <.05 indicated statistical significance.

5. Results

Demographic and clinical characteristics for the sample are provided in **Table 4**. Dissociation severity (MDI total score) showed a significant association with age [r(133) = .41, p < .001] and harmonized PTSD scores [r(133) = .70, p < .001], but not with education [Spearman's $\rho(133) = .11, p = .20]$ or income [Spearman's $\rho(130) = .10, p = .24]$. All MDI subscale scores also showed a positive association with harmonized PTSD scores (rs > .32, ps < .001), as well as with one another (rs > .28, ps <= .001), with the strongest correlation between Depersonalization and Derealization, and the weakest between Disengagement and Identity Dissociation. Age was significantly and negatively correlated with FA for six tracts (rs < ..20, ps < .02) except the corpus callosum, posterior cingulum, fornix, and internal capsule (rs > ..16, ps < ..06). All correlations between harmonized PTSD scores and MDI subscales are in **Table 5** and all correlations between harmonized FA and demographic characteristics are in **Table 6**.

5.1. Primary Analysis

Fractional anisotropy of seven of the ten hypothesized tracts showed a significant negative association with overall dissociation severity (MDI total score), as shown in **Figures 2** and **3**, including the corona radiata [r(131) = -.39, $p_{FDR} < .001$], corpus callosum [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} < .001$], thalamic radiation [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} < .001$], thalamic radiation [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} < .001$], thalamic radiation [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} < .001$], thalamic radiation [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} < .001$], thalamic radiation [r(131) = -.31, $p_{FDR} = -.31$, $p_{FDR} = -.31$

.002], anterior cingulum [r(131) = -.30, $p_{FDR} = .002$], fornix [r(131) = -.23, $p_{FDR} = .02$], and uncinate fasciculus [r(131) = -.19, $p_{FDR} = .05$]. The other tracts showed no significant association with MDI total score (rs > -.19, $p_{SFDR} > .05$).

5.2. Secondary Analyses

MDI subscale analyses showed that FA was most consistently associated with the MDI Memory Disturbance subscale, with a significant and negative correlation with nine of the ten tracts (rs < -.23, $p_{FDR} < .02$). The MDI Disengagement subscale was associated with FA in seven tracts (rs < -.20, $p_{FDR} < .04$) followed by FA of six tracts being associated with the MDI Depersonalization and Derealization subscales (rs < -.20, $p_{FDR} < .04$). The MDI Emotional Constriction subscale was associated with FA in two tracts (rs < -.21, $p_{FDR} < .03$) and the MDI Identity Dissociation subscale was not associated with FA in any of the ten tracts (rs > -.14, $p_{FDR} > .17$). Full results are shown in **Figure 2** and **Table 7**.

5.3. Sensitivity Analyses

After covarying age, tSNR, and harmonized PCL-5 scores, harmonized tract FA was only associated with the MDI Disengagement and Memory Disturbance subscales. MDI Disengagement was significantly and negatively correlated with FA of two tracts: the corona radiata [r(130) = -.29, $p_{FDR} = .03$] and the corpus callosum [r(130) = -.29, $p_{FDR} = .03$]. MDI Memory Disturbance was significantly and negatively correlated with FA of one tract: the corona radiata [r(130) = -.28, $p_{FDR} = .03$]. Full results are listed in **Table 8**.

When analyses were restricted to only participants who identified as Black, results were largely the same as the primary analyses. FA of the internal capsule significantly associated with MDI Total score [r(130) = -.21, $p_{FDR} < .05$] while FA of the uncinate fasciculus was no longer significantly associated with MDI Total Score [r(130) = -.21, $p_{FDR} = .05$]. FA of the internal capsule was no longer significantly associated with the MDI Disengagement subscale and FA of the external capsule was no longer significantly associated with the MDI Memory Disturbance subscale. FA of the corpus callosum and thalamic radiation showed significant negative relationships with MDI Emotional Constriction subscale. Full results are listed in **Table 9**.

Results from the mediation models testing MDI score as a mediator of the relationship between PCL-5 score and tract FA for each of the ten tracts showed that MDI had a significant indirect effect on FA of three tracts (corpus callosum, corona radiata, thalamic radiation). The effect of MDI on FA (path b) was significant for two tracts (corpus callosum, corona radiata). The direct effect of PCL-5 (path c') was not significant for FA of any of the ten tracts. Results from the mediation models testing PCL-5 score as a mediator of the relationship between MDI score and tract FA for each of the ten tracts showed no significant indirect effects. The effect of PCL-5 on FA (path b) was not significant for any of the ten tracts. The direct effect of MDI (path c') was significant for two tracts (corpus callosum, corona radiata). Based on these results, there is evidence that MDI score mediates the relationship between PCL-5 and FA for multiple tracts but not vice versa. Full results are listed in **Table 10** (MDI as the mediator) and **Table 11** (PCL-5 as the mediator).

5.4. Exploratory Analyses

Performance on the LNB task was not significantly associated with the MDI Memory Disturbance subscale. Only the Disengagement subscale was significantly associated with LNB task performance, showing a negative correlation with total LNB false positives [r(113) = -.25, p = .01] and LNB 0-back false positives [r(113) = -.24, p = .01]. Trouble remembering aspects of the traumatic event(s), assessed using the CAPS-5 item D1, was not significantly associated with the MDI Memory Disturbance subscale [r(102) = .10, p = .30]. CAPS-5 item D1 was positively and significantly associated with MDI total score [r(102) = .25, p = .01] as well as all other subscale scores (rs > .24, ps < .02), except for Emotion Constriction [r(102) = .13, p = .21]. Full results are listed in **Table 12**.

6. Discussion

6.1. Review of Study

The present study is the first, to our knowledge, to investigate associations between transdiagnostic dissociation severity and WM microstructure in a large, predominantly Black, trauma-exposed sample of women. Results showed that greater overall dissociation severity was associated with proportionally lower FA among six of the ten hypothesized WM tracts: the corona radiata, corpus callosum, SLF, thalamic radiation, anterior cingulum, fornix, and uncinate fasciculus. Among the different facets of dissociation, memory disturbance was most consistently correlated with FA, revealing a negative association within nine of the tracts. These findings reveal links between dissociative phenomena and disruptions in pathways involved with attention, memory, sensorimotor integration, and emotion regulation; disruptions in these tracts represent salient neuropathophysiological features of dissociation, and likewise, targets for psychotherapeutic and neuromodulatory interventions.

6.2. Previous Literature

Although previous literature on WM correlates of dissociation is limited, our findings were generally consistent with prior studies, showing that dissociation was linked to lesser structural integrity within temporoparietal, frontolimbic, and subcortical striatal–brainstem pathways (Lotfinia et al., 2020; Sierk et al., 2018). The direction of our findings contrast with some findings from two prior studies, which showed that dissociation was linked to higher FA in connections between basal ganglia nuclei, thalamus, and hippocampus in individuals with the dissociative subtype of PTSD (Sierk et al., 2021) or between the left superior frontal gyrus, right medial frontal cortex, and the right amygdala (Sierk et al., 2018); however, these results were restricted to subcortical or cross hemisphere connections rather than full frontolimbic circuits, and differences in FA estimation methods, limited sample size, and population differences (European sample) may have influenced these contrasting results.

6.3. Primary and Secondary Analyses

We observed some of the strongest associations between dissociation severity and FA of tracts involved in sensorimotor integration: the corona radiata, corpus callosum, thalamic radiation, and SLF. The corona radiata represents a large, fan-shaped network of WM fibers radiating out from the internal capsule, extending out to the cortex and descending to subcortical brainstem and thalamic nuclei (Yakar et al., 2018); as such, it supports a large volume of neuronal activity subserving different processes ranging from executive functioning (e.g., attentional control) (Niogi et al., 2010; Stave et al., 2017) to perception, sensory integration, and motor control (Chang et al., 2016; Curcic-Blake et al., 2015; Jiang et al., 2019; Owen et al., 2013; Yin et al., 2018). Alterations in corona radiata microstructure have been observed in transdiagnostic meta- and mega-analytic studies of psychiatric disorders associated with dissociation, particularly schizophrenia (Renard et al., 2017), a disorder that is characterized by sensory/perceptual dysfunction and cognitive impairments (Burke et al., 2023; Kelly et al., 2018; Koshiyama et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2022); these findings align with results from a prior study of WM in dissociative disorders (Kandemir et al., 2016). The SLF, a major temporoparietal pathway connecting the parietal lobe to secondary motor areas is involved in attention, memory, emotion processing, and sensorimotor integration (Kamali et al., 2014; Vergani et al., 2021). Decrements in the SLF have been shown in populations who have endured racial discrimination

(Fani et al., 2022) and in adults with PTSD (O'Doherty et al., 2018; Siehl et al., 2018) and dissociative disorders (Sierk et al., 2018).

The corpus callosum, the major commissural pathway connecting the left and right hemispheres of the brain (Goldstein et al., 2024) is crucial for processing and integrating sensory, motor, and cognitive signals (Tzourio-Mazoyer, 2016) and has been implicated in schizophrenia as well as memory, mood, and intellectual impairments (Ghavipisheh et al., 2023; Piras et al., 2021), including PTSD (Graziano, Bruce, & Paul, 2021). Abnormal information relay across the brain's two hemispheres through the corpus callosum has also been implicated in trauma-related disorders, as seen by reduced integrity to the structure (Siehl et al., 2018; Villarreal et al., 2004). The thalamic radiation connects the thalamus to the cerebral cortex and is involved in relaying sensory and motor information (Jones, 2002). Cortico-thalamic circuits within this tract have been observed to mediate shifts in attentional states, ranging from high arousal alertness to low arousal and sleep states (Zikopoulos & Barbas, 2007), which is likely the tract involved arousal shifts for dissociative responses. Alterations to this pathway have been associated with cognitive impairments in schizophrenia (Mamah et al., 2010) and have been found in survivors of childhood maltreatment (Lim et al., 2020).

As previously mentioned, peritraumatic dissociation in response to traumatic events is associated with the release of anesthetic neurochemicals that disrupts communication throughout the brain, ultimately impairing normal conscious experience (Smith, 2015). While transient experiences of dissociation may occur via sudden inhibition of fear responses, such as through increased regulatory prefrontal cortex function to suppress amygdala activity, endocannabinoids and opioids may contribute to persistent dissociation. Given that cannabis use has been associated with reduced FA in the SLF and corpus callosum (Robinson et al., 2023), and that opioid-dependent patients tend to have lower FA in many tracts involved in motor function such as the corona radiata, corpus callosum, and thalamic radiation (Upadhyay et al., 2010), there is evidence to suggest that prolonged release of these chemicals in response to stress may damage WM. Additionally, decrements to these information relay WM tracts may contribute to the continuing of dissociative responses even after the initial traumatic experience.

6.3.1. Sensitivity Analyses

Our mediation analyses revealed that dissociation played a more prominent role than PTSD in decrements observed for FA in the CC and corona radiata, shown by the significant direct and indirect effects of MDI on FA of those tracts. While some of the decrements to other significant WM tracts, such as the SLF, may be similarly impacted by both dissociation and PTSD, those involved in sensorimotor integration appear to be particularly influenced by dissociation. Notably, PTSD symptoms did not mediate the relationship between dissociation and FA in any tracts, suggesting that changes to WM microstructural integrity in PTSD may be contingent on the presence of dissociation. This mediation pathway is supported by the fact that dissociation serves as a risk factor for developing PTSD (Atchley & Bedford, 2021),

Further examination of this relationship for the dissociation subscales showed that disengagement and memory disturbance remained significant with FDR correction, even when covarying for PTSD, suggesting these facets capture distinct dissociative features that are not solely attributable to PTSD symptomatology. This distinction is especially relevant given that depersonalization and derealization are often considered core dissociative symptoms within the PTSD dissociative subtype (Association, 2013) and tend to be captured within measures of PTSD symptoms. On the other hand, facets of dissociation looking at cognitive disruptions such as attentional and memory deficits are often seen as opposite to hyperarousal and reexperiencing. Moreover, WM changes in the brain do not appear to be markedly different when looking at only Black individuals in our sample. While numbers of non-Black individuals were too small to make meaningful analyses as to how race may impact FA microstructure, our sensitivity analysis suggests that race-related factors did not largely influence the relationship between dissociation and FA. Racial discrimination may be one of the most prominent chronic stressors associated with dissociation, but other stressors, like childhood sexual maltreatment, which are not specific to any racial group, can have similar long-term symptoms (Amore & Serafini, 2020; Bolduc et al., 2019; Fani & Khalsa, 2023; Harb et al., 2023; Spiegel et al., 2011) and WM differences.

6.3.2. Exploratory Analyses

Exploratory analyses revealed that the MDI Memory Disturbance subscale was not associated with measures of working or episodic memory. Both measures had a reduced sample, which may have influenced power, as well as episodic memory being assessed using only a single question from the CAPS-5. However, MDI disengagement was associated with better performance on the LNB, specifically 0-back trials. This finding aligns with prior research suggesting that highly dissociative individuals may struggle with attentional control in emotionally evocative tasks such as visual memory, but demonstrate comparable—or even superior—executive functioning in neutral conditions (Fani et al., 2019). Additionally, the LNB is not the most reliable assessment of working memory and may be getting at other higher order cognitive functions such as fluid intelligence (Jaeggi et al., 2010).

Additionally, trouble remembering aspects of the traumatic event was associated with increased dissociative symptomatology in all facets but memory disturbance and emotion constriction. Memory fragmentation is often associated with peritraumatic dissociation (Bedard-
Gilligan & Zoellner, 2012), but we only have measures of current dissociation and are uncertain as to whether the dissociation is persistent or if they experienced peritraumatic dissociation. Despite this, fragmentation was associated with other facets of dissociation, indicating that processes such as disengagement and depersonalization/derealization may have interfered with memory encoding of the traumatic event, suggesting the presence of peritraumatic dissociation.

Chronic stress can cause an immune response that inhibits the hippocampus, which has been hypothesized to account for declarative memory deficits following traumatic events (Brandes et al., 2002; McEwen, 2000). Notably, endocannabinoids, responsible for fear suppression and dissociation, are highly concentrated in the hippocampus, suggesting a mechanism of improper memory encoding that is associated with peritraumatic dissociation (Scarante et al., 2017). However, our results were less focused on WM tracts connecting to the hippocampus, such as the fornix, but rather tracts involved in sensorimotor integration. This suggests that the inhibition of the hippocampus may be localized and not affect surrounding WM, and also suggests that memory disruptions, as measured in the MDI, may be less due to failure to encode memories but rather failure to accurately process the events. Psychometrics of the MDI align with this hypothesis as the Memory Disturbance subscale also loaded onto the Disengagement subscale and may represent other sources of memory disruption such as attentional control deficits or neurodegenerative diseases (Briere et al., 2005; Jeffirs et al., 2023).

Overall, exploratory results indicate that memory disturbance may reflect a broader disruption in cognitive processing instead of deficits specific to working or episodic memory. Rather than impairing memory retrieval for specific periods, such as during a measured task or a traumatic event, these disruptions may reflect general lapses in attention and moment-to-moment memory failures. This aligns with the idea that dissociative symptoms involve a disconnect from present experiences, which may interfere with encoding and recall but in a way that is distinct from traditional memory impairments. Given that the inhibitory thalamic reticular nucleus serves as an "emotional gatekeeper" that can inhibit thalamo-cortical signaling to divert attention during highly emotional events, such as trauma (John et al., 2016), it is likely that sensory input may never reach the cortex for further processing. As a result, if the event is not fully consciously experienced, it may fail to be properly encoded, even without hippocampal dysfunction. This inhibition of the thalamus is not even reliant on high stress neurochemical release as many prefrontal projections have GABAergic synapses onto the thalamus (Zikopoulos & Barbas, 2006), which may explain sensory disconnect and diverted attention during transient and seemingly unwarranted dissociative experiences.

Additionally, while different facets of dissociation such as disengagement, depersonalization, and memory disturbance are often related, they do not necessarily co-occur or influence cognition in the same way. This suggests that dissociation may manifest in distinct cognitive profiles, with some individuals experiencing attentional control deficits, while others exhibit more severe disruptions in memory or sensory integration. This highlights the importance of viewing dissociation through a multifaceted lens, as each domain of dissociation may have unique neurobiology with different cognitive processes involved.

6.4. Implications

Overall, these findings build upon prior studies of WM in dissociation and demonstrate that dissociation severity was linked to decrements in microstructural integrity of tracts involved with sensorimotor integration, memory, and emotion regulation in trauma-exposed women. As persistent dissociation has been associated with negative mental health outcomes (Atchley & Bedford, 2021; Lebois, Harnett, et al., 2022), there is a clear need for robust biomarkers of dissociation, which may serve as clinical targets. Further, studies show that many people with elevated dissociative symptoms experience significant treatment barriers, including a lack of trained treatment providers and stigma-related barriers (Nester et al., 2022); this problem is exacerbated in marginalized populations, including populations of women and Black individuals (Ballone & Richards, 2023; Snowden, 2001). As such, the implicated tracts of this study represent attractive candidate biomarkers for dissociation and may be useful targets for treatment with respect to psychotherapy and neuromodulation.

We observed particularly consistent and strong associations between the Memory Disturbance and Disengagement subscales and FA in various white matter pathways. While memory disturbance was not linked to trauma-related memory fragmentation, dissociationparticularly disengagement—was associated with difficulty recalling aspects of trauma, suggesting a role in memory fragmentation in dissociation. Trauma-focused psychotherapy, (e.g., prolonged exposure therapy), can be used to address these problems, as it involves processing of trauma memories (Foa et al., 2005), and has been shown to decrease dissociative symptoms (Hagenaars et al., 2010). Changes in frontolimbic, thalamic, and commissural WM tracts have been observed in individuals who completed Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (TF-CBT) (Korgaonkar et al., 2021), and a case study using an adapted form of TF-CBT (i.e., adjunctive dissociation psychoeducation and emotion regulation) demonstrated benefit for an adult patient with dissociative PTSD (Vancappel et al., 2022). Although the effects of traumafocused therapy on WM integrity in those with elevated dissociation have not been examined, guided imagery psychotherapy has been shown to increase FA of the left superior frontal cortex in adults with major depressive disorder (Wang et al., 2013), which could support the assertion

that trauma therapy treatment success in individuals with dissociation is related to improvements to WM integrity of frontolimbic tracts.

Given the connection between memory disturbance and disengagement, prevention of future memory deficits may also be achieved by helping dissociative individuals increase their awareness of the present moment. Self-regulation of attention and acceptance of internal experiences through mindfulness-based interventions have been shown to be effective in reducing dissociation (Vancappel et al., 2021). Additionally, mindfulness has been shown to help diminish age-related degeneration of limbic WM tracts (Laneri et al., 2016), and as PTSD has been hypothesized to accelerate aging (Wang et al., 2022), mindfulness may help diminish WM decrements observed in dissociation following trauma exposure. Degradation in these WM tracts may also correspond to dysfunction in sensorimotor processing and elevated disconnection between the mind and body, which is common in trauma-related dissociation (Kearney & Lanius, 2022). Thus, mindfulness training, such as mindful awareness in body-oriented therapy (MABT), may also help to strengthen these relevant pathways to improve interoceptive awareness and mind-body connection (Price & Hooven, 2018) to reduce dissociative symptoms. Finally, physical activity has been shown to increase the integrity of various frontal lobe WM tracts (Bashir et al., 2021), which may be a more accessible treatment option.

Our findings reveal salient targets for neuromodulation as well. Deep brain stimulation (DBS) of WM in the subgenual cingulate has provided antidepressant effects for patients with treatment-resistant depression (Mayberg et al., 2005), and DBS of the subgenual cingulum and uncinate fasciculus has produced reductions in PTSD symptoms (Hamani et al., 2022). Non-invasive neuromodulation techniques, including repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of anterior cingulate and prefrontal WM, have also shown positive effects on FA in these regions

and provided therapeutic effects in patients with depression (Ning et al., 2022). Given the links observed between FA in the anterior cingulum and the uncinate fasciculus and dissociative memory disturbances, these tracts may be excellent targets for neuromodulation. Additionally, the therapeutic effects of stimulation of frontal lobe tracts in patients with PTSD and depression indicate that neuromodulation, whether via DBS or non-invasive stimulation methods, of our other significant tracts has the potential to provide relief for dissociation, and merit attention in future research.

6.5. Limitations and Future Directions

We acknowledge several important limitations in this study. First, the correlational nature of our study precludes any causal inferences (whether dissociation influences the development of WM disruptions, or vice versa). The high correlation between the MDI and PCL-5 should be also considered when interpreting our results, but sensitivity mediation analyses indicated a unique role of dissociation. Additionally, our study sample comprised of mostly Black individuals who identified as women. Although this could potentially have implications for generalizability to other trauma-exposed populations, this may also be considered a strength, as Black women are disproportionately exposed to multiple types of adversity and show disproportionately high rates of PTSD and dissociation (Douglas, 2009; Gran-Ruaz et al., 2022; Meshberg-Cohen et al., 2016); they are also an underrepresented group in psychiatric neuroimaging research. Additionally, dissociation may be a response to racial adversities (Fani & Khalsa, 2023; Harb et al., 2023), so examining biomarkers of dissociation in this racially marginalized population has clinical salience. Regardless, conducting analyses with a more equal portion of races could be useful for generalizability, as well as analyzing race-related factors. Beyond race, our sample also did not include any individuals with military trauma. While community trauma is important

to consider in trauma studies, military populations are the hallmark of trauma studies, and tend to report higher rates of dissociation than those without combat experience (B. Özdemir et al., 2015), making them an important population to include in future dissociation and WM research.

There are also different kinds of additional information that we did not have access to that would be beneficial for further understanding our results. Firstly, since we had to harmonize PTSD scales to get a single measure of symptomatology, we were unable to analyze subscale scores to see how they may interact with PTSD. We ran into the same issue with trauma exposure, and having more detail specific to time since last trauma as well as non-Criterion A stressors, such as racial discrimination, would be helpful. While we excluded individuals with severe alcohol or substance use disorder and the MDI questions specified that the experiences are not due to drug or alcohol use, we did have additional information on substance use to include as a covariate in analyses. This would be an important variable to consider given that alcohol consumption is associated with reduced FA (Daviet et al., 2022). However, addiction is common among those with childhood trauma and dissociation (Craparo et al., 2014). Ecological validity is an important concept here; while variables such psychotropic medication usage and substance use may impact WM, individuals at higher risk for dissociation are more likely to use medications and substances. Not excluding for these variables helps increase sample size and make it more generalizable to dissociative populations, and not covarying these variables helps keep the meaningful variation in dissociative symptoms.

Finally, to better understand the cognitive mechanisms underlying dissociative memory disturbance, additional neuropsychological tests of attention, working memory, and declarative memory would be imperative. A more comprehensive understanding of executive functioning could be obtained using The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (Nasreddine et al., 2005), and

attentional control during emotionally evocative tasks could be measured using tests such as Trier Social Stress Test for emotional memory (Freund et al., 2023) or visual memory tasks using images from the International Affective Picture System (Taylor et al., 1998). Given the importance of sensorimotor integration to dissociation, sensory memory could be an interesting domain to examine, using tests such as Sperling's Sensory Memory Experiments (Sperling, 1960) or tactile cognitive tests used to assess Alzheimer's patients (Arambula et al., 2021). Finally, to better assess episodic and declarative memory, particularly measures of everyday events, there are many possible tasks, such as the Rivermead Behavioral Memory Test (Kurtz, 2011), the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (Vakil & Blachstein, 1993), or the SEMantic and EPisodic Memory Test (Vallet et al., 2017).

Beyond expanding upon the current study, future directions should analyze the specific neurobiology of WM decrements in dissociative populations. FA is a relatively non-specific metric of WM microstructure; other methods such as Neurite Orientation Dispersion and Density Imaging and diffusion kurtosis imaging may provide other useful metrics of WM morphological alterations (Kamiya et al., 2020) to better understand how and why these structural differences occur. Additionally, animal models are an important method to use to gain a better understanding of brain changes that occur amid dissociation. While animals cannot say whether they feel disconnected from their body, the biologically conserved stress-induced analgesia, fear extinction, learned helplessness, and tonic immobility are useful processes to study.

6.6. Conclusion

In conclusion, we observed that dissociation was characterized by disruptions in WM microstructure in this large sample of trauma-exposed women, particularly among tracts that subserve information relay and processing, sensory integration, and memory: the corona radiata,

corpus callosum, SLF, thalamic radiation, anterior cingulum, fornix, and uncinate fasciculus. These stress-sensitive pathways represent promising targets for future psychotherapeutic and neuromodulatory interventions for a broad range of dissociative trauma-exposed populations, particularly those who have experienced multiple types of adversity and marginalization.

- Amore, M., & Serafini, G. (2020). Early stress and dissociation: psychopathological pathways. *Journal of Psychopathology*, 26(1), 54-69. https://doi.org/10.36148/2284-0249-362
- Andersson, J. L. R., Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2007). Non-linear registration, aka Spatial normalisation FMRIB technical report TR07JA2. *FMRIB Analysis Group of the University of Oxford*, 2(1), e21.
- Arambula, O. G., Padovani, F. H. P., Corrente, J. E., Schelp, A. B., Sanches, F. J., Amorim, R. M., & Schelp, A. O. (2021). Applicability of tactile memory examination as an option to visual- and verbal-based batteries. *Dement Neuropsychol*, 15(3), 373-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642021dn15-030010</u>
- American Psychological Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorder* (4th ed.). American Psychiatric Press.
- American Psychological Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Atchley, R., & Bedford, C. (2021). Dissociative Symptoms In Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Systematic Review. J Trauma Dissociation, 22(1), 69-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2020.1760410</u>
- Atilan Fedai, U., & Asoglu, M. (2022). Analysis of Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Patients with Dissociative Identity Disorder. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, 18, 3035-3044. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S386648</u>
- Ballone, N., & Richards, E. (2023). Racial/Ethnic Disparities and Women's Mental Health: Considerations for Providing Culturally Sensitive Care. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 46(3), 571-582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2023.04.011</u>
- Bashir, S., Al-Sultan, F., Abu Jamea, A., Almousa, A., Alnafisah, M., Alzahrani, M., Abualait, T., & Yoo, W. K. (2021). Physical exercise keeps the brain connected by increasing white matter integrity in healthy controls. *Medicine*, 100(35). e27015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000027015</u>
- Bedard-Gilligan, M., & Zoellner, L. A. (2012). Dissociation and memory fragmentation in posttraumatic stress disorder: An evaluation of the dissociative encoding hypothesis. *Memory*, 20(3), 277-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2012.655747</u>
- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the False Discovery Rate a Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B-Statistical Methodology*, 57(1), 289-300. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Blevins, C. A., Weathers, F. W., Davis, M. T., Witte, T. K., & Domino, J. L. (2015). The Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5): Development and Initial Psychometric Evaluation. *J Trauma Stress*, 28(6), 489-498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22059</u>
- Bolduc, M. É. G., Milot, T., & st-Laurent, D. (2019). The Prevalence of Developmental Trauma Disorder in a Sample of Children with and at Risk for Maltreatment. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 58(10), S161-S161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2019.08.066</u>
- Boyer, S. M., Caplan, J. E., & Edwards, L. K. (2022). Trauma-Related Dissociation and the Dissociative Disorders:: Neglected Symptoms with Severe Public Health Consequences. *Dela J Public Health*, 8(2), 78-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.32481/djph.2022.05.010</u>

- Brand, B. L., & Lanius, R. A. (2014). Chronic complex dissociative disorders and borderline personality disorder: disorders of emotion dysregulation? *Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul*, 1, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-6673-1-13</u>
- Brandes, D., Ben-Schachar, G., Gilboa, A., Bonne, O., Freedman, S., & Shalev, A. Y. (2002). PTSD symptoms and cognitive performance in recent trauma survivors. *Psychiatry Res*, *110*(3), 231-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-1781(02)00125-7</u>
- Bremner, J. D. (2010). Cognitive processes in dissociation: comment on Giesbrecht et al. (2008). *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(1), 1-6; discussion 7-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018021</u>
- Briere, J. (2002). *Multiscale Dissociation Inventory Professional Manual*. Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Briere, J., Weathers, F. W., & Runtz, M. (2005). Is dissociation a multidimensional construct? Data from the Multiscale Dissociation Inventory. *J Trauma Stress*, 18(3), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20024
- Burgel, U., Amunts, K., Hoemke, L., Mohlberg, H., Gilsbach, J. M., & Zilles, K. (2006). White matter fiber tracts of the human brain: three-dimensional mapping at microscopic resolution, topography and intersubject variability. *Neuroimage*, 29(4), 1092-1105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.08.040</u>
- Burke, T., Holleran, L., Mothersill, D., Lyons, J., Rourke, N. O., Gleeson, C., Cannon, D. M., McKernan, D. P., Morris, D. W., Hallahan, B., McDonald, C., & Donohoe, G. (2023). Bilateral anterior corona radiata microstructure organisation relates to impaired social cognition in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 262, 87-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2023.10.035</u>
- Camina, E., & Guell, F. (2017). The Neuroanatomical, Neurophysiological and Psychological Basis of Memory: Current Models and Their Origins. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 438. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00438</u>
- Chang, Y. S., Gratiot, M., Owen, J. P., Brandes-Aitken, A., Desai, S. S., Hill, S. S., Arnett, A. B., Harris, J., Marco, E. J., & Mukherjee, P. (2016). White Matter Microstructure is Associated with Auditory and Tactile Processing in Children with and without Sensory Processing Disorder. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 16910.3389/fnana.2015.00169
- Chen, L., Lui, S., Wu, Q. Z., Zhang, W., Zhou, D., Chen, H. F., Huang, X. Q., Kuang, W. H., Chan, R. C., Mechelli, A., & Gong, Q. Y. (2013). Impact of acute stress on human brain microstructure: An MR diffusion study of earthquake survivors. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 34(2), 367-373. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21438
- Cohen, N. J., Ryan, J., Hunt, C., Romine, L., Wszalek, T., & Nash, C. (1999). Hippocampal system and declarative (relational) memory: summarizing the data from functional neuroimaging studies. *Hippocampus*, 9(1), 83-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1999)9:1</u>
- Craparo, G., Ardino, V., Gori, A., & Caretti, V. (2014). The Relationships between Early Trauma, Dissociation, and Alexithymia in Alcohol Addiction. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 11(3), 330-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2014.11.3.330</u>
- Curcic-Blake, B., Nanetti, L., van der Meer, L., Cerliani, L., Renken, R., Pijnenborg, G. H., & Aleman, A. (2015). Not on speaking terms: hallucinations and structural network disconnectivity in schizophrenia. *Brain Structure & Function*, 220(1), 407-418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-013-0663-y

- Daviet, R., Aydogan, G., Jagannathan, K., Spilka, N., Koellinger, P. D., Kranzler, H. R., Nave, G., & Wetherill, R. R. (2022). Associations between alcohol consumption and gray and white matter volumes in the UK Biobank. *Nature Communications*, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 117510.1038/s41467-022-28735-5
- Douglas, A. N. (2009). Racial and ethnic differences in dissociation: an examination of the dissociative experiences scale in a nonclinical population. *J Trauma Dissociation*, 10(1), 24-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299730802488452
- Falsetti, S. A., Resnick, H. S., Resick, P. A., & Kilpatrick, D. (1993). The Modified PTSD Symptom Scale: A bried self-report measure of posttraumatic stress disorder. *The Behavioral Therapist*, 16, 161-162.
- Fani, N., Guelfo, A., La Barrie, D. L., Teer, A. P., Clendinen, C., Karimzadeh, L., Jain, J., Ely, T. D., Powers, A., Kaslow, N. J., Bradley, B., & Siegle, G. J. (2023). Neurophysiological changes associated with vibroacoustically-augmented breath-focused mindfulness for dissociation: targeting interoception and attention. *Psychol Med*, 53(16), 7550-7560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291723001277</u>
- Fani, N., Harnett, N. G., Bradley, B., Mekawi, Y., Powers, A., Stevens, J. S., Ressler, K. J., & Carter, S. E. (2022). Racial Discrimination and White Matter Microstructure in Trauma-Exposed Black Women. *Biol Psychiatry*, 91(3), 254-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.08.011
- Fani, N., & Khalsa, S. S. (2023). The role of racial discrimination in dissociation and interoceptive dysfunction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 48(1), 225-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-022-01402-5</u>
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Jovanovic, T., Glover, E. M., Bradley, B., Choi, K., Ely, T., Gutman, D. A., & Ressler, K. J. (2012). White matter integrity in highly traumatized adults with and without post-traumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(12), 2740-2746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.146npp2012146 [pii]</u>
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Powers, A., Hardy, R. A., Siegle, G. J., Blair, R. J., Surapaneni, S., van Rooij, S., Ressler, K. J., Jovanovic, T., & Bradley, B. (2018). Cognitive and neural facets of dissociation in a traumatized population. *Emotion*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000466</u>
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Powers, A., Hardy, R. A., Siegle, G. J., Blair, R. J., Surapaneni, S., van Rooij, S., Ressler, K. J., Jovanovic, T., & Bradley, B. (2019). Cognitive and neural facets of dissociation in a traumatized population. *Emotion*, 19(5), 863-875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000466</u>
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Reiser, E., Binder, E. B., Jovanovic, T., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2014). FKBP5 Genotype and Structural Integrity of the Posterior Cingulum. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(5), 1206-1213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.322</u>
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Shin, J., Srivastava, A., Brewster, R. C., Jovanovic, T., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2016). Structural and Functional Connectivity in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Associations with Fkbp5. *Depress Anxiety*, 33(4), 300-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22483</u>
- Foa, E. B., Hembree, E. A., Cahill, S. P., Rauch, S. A., Riggs, D. S., Feeny, N. C., & Yadin, E. (2005). Randomized trial of prolonged exposure for posttraumatic stress disorder with and without cognitive restructuring: outcome at academic and community clinics. J Consult Clin Psychol, 73(5), 953-964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.5.953</u>

- Fox, R. J., Sakaie, K., Lee, J. C., Debbins, J. P., Liu, Y., Arnold, D. L., Melhem, E. R., Smith, C. H., Philips, M. D., Lowe, M., & Fisher, E. (2012). A Validation Study of Multicenter Diffusion Tensor Imaging: Reliability of Fractional Anisotropy and Diffusivity Values. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 33(4), 695-700. <u>https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A2844</u>
- Freund, I. M., Peters, J., Kindt, M., & Visser, R. M. (2023). Emotional memory in the lab: Using the Trier Social Stress Test to induce a sensory-rich and personally meaningful episodic experience. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 148, 105971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2022.105971
- Ghavipisheh, M., Jahromi, L. R., Ahrari, I., & Jahromi, M. G. (2023). Complete agenesis of corpus callosum with a rare neuropsychiatric presentation: A case report. *Radiol Case Rep*, 18(4), 1442-1445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radcr.2023.01.031</u>
- Giesbrecht, T., Lynn, S. J., Lilienfeld, S. O., & Merckelbach, H. (2008). Cognitive processes in dissociation: an analysis of core theoretical assumptions. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(5), 617-647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.5.617</u>
- Gillespie, C. F., Bradley, R. G., Mercer, K., Smith, A. K., Conneely, K., Gapen, M., Weiss, T., Schwartz, A. C., Cubells, J. F., & Ressler, K. J. (2009). Trauma Exposure and Stress-Related Disorders in Inner City Primary Care Patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, 65(8), 505– 514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.05.003</u>
- Goldstein, A., Covington, B. P., Mahabadi, N., & Mesfin, F. B. (2024). Neuroanatomy, Corpus Callosum. In *StatPearls*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28846239</u>
- Gran-Ruaz, S. M., Taylor, R. J., Jacob, G., & Williams, M. T. (2022). Lifetime Trauma Exposure and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Among African Americans and Black Caribbeans by Sex and Ethnicity. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 88906010.3389/fpsyt.2022.889060
- Gray, M. J., Litz, B. T., Hsu, J. L., & Lombardo, T. W. (2004). Psychometric properties of the life events checklist. *Assessment*, 11(4), 330-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191104269954</u>
- Gunning-Dixon, F. M., Brickman, A. M., Cheng, J. C., & Alexopoulos, G. S. (2009). Aging of cerebral white matter: a review of MRI findings. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 24(2), 109-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2087</u>
- Gur, R. C., Richard, J., Hughett, P., Calkins, M. E., Macy, L., Bilker, W. B., Brensinger, C., & Gur, R. E. (2010). A cognitive neuroscience-based computerized battery for efficient measurement of individual differences: standardization and initial construct validation. J Neurosci Methods, 187(2), 254-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.11.017</u>
- Hagenaars, M. A., van Minnen, A., & Hoogduin, K. A. (2010). The impact of dissociation and depression on the efficacy of prolonged exposure treatment for PTSD. *Behav Res Ther*, 48(1), 19-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.09.001</u>
- Haller, O. C., King, T. Z., Mathur, M., Turner, J. A., Wang, C. Y., Jovanovic, T., Stevens, J. S., & Fani, N. (2023). White matter predictors of PTSD: Testing different machine learning models in a sample of Black American women. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 168, 256-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2023.10.046</u>
- Hamani, C., Davidson, B., Corchs, F., Abrahao, A., Nestor, S. M., Rabin, J. S., Nyman, A. J., Phung, L., Goubran, M., Levitt, A., Talakoub, O., Giacobbe, P., & Lipsman, N. (2022). Deep brain stimulation of the subgenual cingulum and uncinate fasciculus for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Sci Adv*, 8(48), eadc9970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adc9970</u>

- Harb, F., Bird, C. M., Webb, E. K., Torres, L., deRoon-Cassini, T. A., & Larson, C. L. (2023). Experiencing racial discrimination increases vulnerability to PTSD after trauma via peritraumatic dissociation. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 14(2). <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 221148610.1080/20008066.2023.2211486
- Harricharan, S., Nicholson, A. A., Densmore, M., Theberge, J., McKinnon, M. C., Neufeld, R. W. J., & Lanius, R. A. (2017). Sensory overload and imbalance: Resting-state vestibular connectivity in PTSD and its dissociative subtype. *Neuropsychologia*, *106*, 169-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.09.010</u>
- Harricharan, S., Nicholson, A. A., Thome, J., Densmore, M., McKinnon, M. C., Theberge, J., Frewen, P. A., Neufeld, R. W. J., & Lanius, R. A. (2020). PTSD and its dissociative subtype through the lens of the insula: Anterior and posterior insula resting-state functional connectivity and its predictive validity using machine learning. *Psychophysiology*, 57(1), e13472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13472</u>
- Harricharan, S., Rabellino, D., Frewen, P. A., Densmore, M., Theberge, J., McKinnon, M. C., Schore, A. N., & Lanius, R. A. (2016). fMRI functional connectivity of the periaqueductal gray in PTSD and its dissociative subtype. *Brain Behav*, 6(12), e00579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.579</u>
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis : a regression-based approach (Third edition. ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Honey, C. J., Thivierge, J. P., & Sporns, O. (2010). Can structure predict function in the human brain? *Neuroimage*, *52*(3), 766-776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.01.071</u>
- Hua, K., Zhang, J., Wakana, S., Jiang, H., Li, X., Reich, D. S., Calabresi, P. A., Pekar, J. J., van Zijl, P. C., & Mori, S. (2008). Tract probability maps in stereotaxic spaces: analyses of white matter anatomy and tract-specific quantification. *Neuroimage*, 39(1), 336-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.053</u>
- Hunter, E. C. M., Sierra, M., & David, A. S. (2004). The epidemiology of depersonalisation and derealisation - A systematic review. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 39(1), 9-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-004-0701-4</u>
- Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Perrig, W. J., & Meier, B. (2010). The concurrent validity of the N-back task as a working memory measure. *Memory*, 18(4), 394-412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211003702171</u>
- Jeffirs, S. M., Petri, J. M., Camden, A. A., Jackson, B. N., & Weathers, F. W. (2023). Psychometric evaluation of the Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI): A replication and extension in two trauma-exposed samples. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejtd.2023.100324
- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2002). Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage*, 17(2), 825-841. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1132</u>
- Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2001). A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. *Medical Image Analysis*, 5(2), 143-156. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S1361-8415(01)00036-6
- Jiang, C., Yi, L., Cai, S., & Zhang, L. (2019). Ischemic Stroke in Pontine and Corona Radiata: Location Specific Impairment of Neural Network Investigated With Resting State fMRI. *Front Neurol*, 10, 575. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00575</u>
- John, Y. J., Zikopoulos, B., Bullock, D., & Barbas, H. (2016). The Emotional Gatekeeper: A Computational Model of Attentional Selection and Suppression through the Pathway

from the Amygdala to the Inhibitory Thalamic Reticular Nucleus. *Plos Computational Biology*, *12*(2). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> e100472210.1371/journal.pcbi.1004722

- Jones, E. G. (2002). Thalamic circuitry and thalamocortical synchrony. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 357(1428), 1659-1673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1168</u>
- Kamali, A., Flanders, A. E., Brody, J., Hunter, J. V., & Hasan, K. M. (2014). Tracing superior longitudinal fasciculus connectivity in the human brain using high resolution diffusion tensor tractography. *Brain Structure & Function*, 219(1), 269-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-012-0498-y</u>
- Kamiya, K., Hori, M., & Aoki, S. (2020). NODDI in clinical research. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 346. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 10890810.1016/j.jneumeth.2020.108908
- Kandemir, S. B., Bayazit, H., Selek, S., Kiliçaslan, N., Kandemir, H., Karababa, I. F., Kati, M., & Çeçe, H. (2016). Tracking down the footprints of bad paternal relationships in dissociative disorders: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 17(3), 371-381. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2015.1111282
- Kearney, B. E., & Lanius, R. A. (2022). The brain-body disconnect: A somatic sensory basis for trauma-related disorders. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 101574910.3389/fnins.2022.1015749
- Kelly, S., Jahanshad, N., Zalesky, A., Kochunov, P., Agartz, I., Alloza, C., Andreassen, O., Arango, C., Banaj, N., Bouix, S., Bousman, C. A., Brouwer, R. M., Bruggemann, J., Bustillo, J., Cahn, W., Calhoun, V., Cannon, D., Carr, V., Catts, S., . . . Donohoe, G. (2018). Widespread white matter microstructural differences in schizophrenia across 4322 individuals: results from the ENIGMA Schizophrenia DTI Working Group. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(5), 1261-1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.170</u>
- Kennedy, E., Dennis, E. L., Lindsey, H. M., deRoon-Cassini, T., Du Plessis, S., Fani, N., Kaufman, M. L., Koen, N., Larson, C. L., Laskowitz, S., Lebois, L. A. M., Morey, R. A., Newsome, M. R., Palermo, C., Pastorek, N. J., Powers, A., Scheibel, R., Seedat, S., Seligowski, A., . . . Tate, D. F. (2023). Harmonizing PTSD severity scales across instruments and sites. *Neuropsychology*, *37*(4), 398-408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000823</u>
- Kinugawa, K., Schumm, S., Pollina, M., Depre, M., Jungbluth, C., Doulazmi, M., Sebban, C., Zlomuzica, A., Pietrowsky, R., Pause, B., Mariani, J., & Dere, E. (2013). Aging-related episodic memory decline: are emotions the key? *Front Behav Neurosci*, 7, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00002</u>
- Kirova, A. M., Bays, R. B., & Lagalwar, S. (2015). Working memory and executive function decline across normal aging, mild cognitive impairment, and Alzheimer's disease. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 748212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/748212</u>
- Korgaonkar, M. S., Felmingham, K. L., Klimova, A., Erlinger, M., Williams, L. M., & Bryant, R. A. (2021). White matter anisotropy and response to cognitive behavior therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*, 11(1), 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-01143-3</u>
- Koshiyama, D., Fukunaga, M., Okada, N., Morita, K., Nemoto, K., Usui, K., Yamamori, H., Yasuda, Y., Fujimoto, M., Kudo, N., Azechi, H., Watanabe, Y., Hashimoto, N., Narita, H., Kusumi, I., Ohi, K., Shimada, T., Kataoka, Y., Yamamoto, M., . . . Cocoro. (2020). White matter microstructural alterations across four major psychiatric disorders: mega-analysis

study in 2937 individuals. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 25(4), 883-895. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0553-7

- Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (1995). Post traumatic stress disorder: Psychobiological mechanisms of traumatic remembrance. *Memory Distortion*, 150-172. <Go to ISI>://WOS:A1995BE93F00006
- Kurtz, M. M. (2011). Rivermead Behavioral Memory Test. In J. S. Kreutzer, J. DeLuca, & B. Caplan (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology* (pp. 2184-2185). Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79948-3</u> 1154
- Laneri, D., Schuster, V., Dietsche, B., Jansen, A., Ott, U., & Sommer, J. (2016). Effects of Long-Term Mindfulness Meditation on Brain's White Matter Microstructure and its Aging. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 25410.3389/fnagi.2015.00254
- Lanius, R. A., Boyd, J. E., McKinnon, M. C., Nicholson, A. A., Frewen, P., Vermetten, E., Jetly, R., & Spiegel, D. (2018). A Review of the Neurobiological Basis of Trauma-Related Dissociation and Its Relation to Cannabinoid- and Opioid-Mediated Stress Response: a Transdiagnostic, Translational Approach. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 20(12), 118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0983-y</u>
- Lanius, R. A., Brand, B., Vermetten, E., Frewen, P. A., & Spiegel, D. (2012). The dissociative subtype of posttraumatic stress disorder: rationale, clinical and neurobiological evidence, and implications. *Depress Anxiety*, 29(8), 701-708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.21889</u>
- Lanius, R. A., Vermetten, E., Loewenstein, R. J., Brand, B., Schmahl, C., Bremner, J. D., & Spiegel, D. (2010). Emotion modulation in PTSD: Clinical and neurobiological evidence for a dissociative subtype. *Am J Psychiatry*, 167(6), 640-647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09081168</u>
- Le Bihan, D., Mangin, J. F., Poupon, C., Clark, C. A., Pappata, S., Molko, N., & Chabriat, H. (2001). Diffusion tensor imaging: Concepts and applications. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 13(4), 534-546. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1002/jmri.1076
- Lebel, C., Treit, S., & Beaulieu, C. (2019). A review of diffusion MRI of typical white matter development from early childhood to young adulthood. *NMR Biomed*, 32(4), e3778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.3778</u>
- Lebois, L. A. M., Harnett, N. G., van Rooij, S. J. H., Ely, T. D., Jovanovic, T., Bruce, S. E., House, S. L., Ravichandran, C., Dumornay, N. M., Finegold, K. E., Hill, S. B., Merker, J. B., Phillips, K. A., Beaudoin, F. L., An, X., Neylan, T. C., Clifford, G. D., Linnstaedt, S. D., Germine, L. T., . . . Ressler, K. J. (2022). Persistent Dissociation and Its Neural Correlates in Predicting Outcomes After Trauma Exposure. *Am J Psychiatry*, *179*(9), 661-672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.21090911</u>
- Lebois, L. A. M., Kumar, P., Palermo, C. A., Lambros, A. M., O'Connor, L., Wolff, J. D., Baker, J. T., Gruber, S. A., Lewis-Schroeder, N., Ressler, K. J., Robinson, M. A., Winternitz, S., Nickerson, L. D., & Kaufman, M. L. (2022). Deconstructing dissociation: a triple network model of trauma-related dissociation and its subtypes. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 47(13), 2261-2270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-022-01468-1</u>
- Lebois, L. A. M., Li, M., Baker, J. T., Wolff, J. D., Wang, D., Lambros, A. M., Grinspoon, E., Winternitz, S., Ren, J., Gonenc, A., Gruber, S. A., Ressler, K. J., Liu, H., & Kaufman, M. L. (2021). Large-Scale Functional Brain Network Architecture Changes Associated With Trauma-Related Dissociation. *Am J Psychiatry*, 178(2), 165-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.19060647</u>

- Leonard, D., Brann, S., & Tiller, J. (2005). Dissociative disorders: pathways to diagnosis, clinician attitudes and their impact. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *39*(10), 940-946. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01700.x
- Lim, L., Howells, H., Radua, J., & Rubia, K. (2020). Aberrant structural connectivity in childhood maltreatment: A meta-analysis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 116, 406-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.07.004</u>
- Lotfinia, S., Soorgi, Z., Mertens, Y., & Daniels, J. (2020). Structural and functional brain alterations in psychiatric patients with dissociative experiences: A systematic review of magnetic resonance imaging studies. J Psychiatr Res, 128, 5-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.05.006</u>
- Lynn, S. J., Lilienfeld, S. O., Merckelbach, H., Giesbrecht, T., McNally, R. J., Loftus, E. F., Bruck, M., Garry, M., & Malaktaris, A. (2014). The trauma model of dissociation: inconvenient truths and stubborn fictions. Comment on Dalenberg et al. (2012). *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(3), 896-910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035570</u>
- Mamah, D., Conturo, T. E., Harms, M. P., Akbudak, E., Wang, L., McMichael, A. R., Gado, M. H., Barch, D. M., & Csernansky, J. G. (2010). Anterior thalamic radiation integrity in schizophrenia: a diffusion-tensor imaging study. *Psychiatry Res*, 183(2), 144-150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.04.013</u>
- Mayberg, H. S., Lozano, A. M., Voon, V., McNeely, H. E., Seminowicz, D., Hamani, C., Schwalb, J. M., & Kennedy, S. H. (2005). Deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant depression. *Neuron*, 45(5), 651-660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.014</u>
- McEwen, B. S. (2000). The neurobiology of stress: from serendipity to clinical relevance. *Brain Res*, 886(1-2), 172-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(00)02950-4</u>
- Menon, V. (2011). Large-scale brain networks and psychopathology: a unifying triple network model. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 15(10), 483-506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.08.003</u>
- Menon, V. (2021). Dissociation by Network Integration. *Am J Psychiatry*, *178*(2), 110-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20121728</u>
- Meshberg-Cohen, S., Presseau, C., Thacker, L. R., Hefner, K., & Svikis, D. (2016).
 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, Health Problems, and Depression Among African
 American Women in Residential Substance Use Treatment. *Journal of Womens Health*, 25(7), 729-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5328</u>
- Mori, S., Wakana, S., & Van Zijl, P. C. M. (2005). *MRI atlas of human white matter* (1st ed.). Elsevier. <u>http://ed-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/openurl/44UOE/44UOE_services_page?u.ignore_date_c overage=true&rft.mms_id=9923883039302466
- Mori, S., & Zhang, J. Y. (2006). Principles of diffusion tensor imaging and its applications to basic neuroscience research. *Neuron*, 51(5), 527-539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.012</u>
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bedirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., Cummings, J. L., & Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 53(4), 695-699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x</u>
- Nester, M. S., Hawkins, S. L., & Brand, B. L. (2022). Barriers to accessing and continuing mental health treatment among individuals with dissociative symptoms. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 203159410.1080/20008198.2022.2031594

- Nicholson, A. A., Densmore, M., Frewen, P. A., Theberge, J., Neufeld, R. W., McKinnon, M. C., & Lanius, R. A. (2015). The Dissociative Subtype of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Unique Resting-State Functional Connectivity of Basolateral and Centromedial Amygdala Complexes. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(10), 2317-2326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.79</u>
- Nijenhuis, E. R., & van der Hart, O. (2011). Dissociation in trauma: a new definition and comparison with previous formulations. *J Trauma Dissociation*, *12*(4), 416-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2011.570592</u>
- Ning, L. P., Rathi, Y., Barbour, T., Makris, N., & Camprodon, J. A. (2022). White matter markers and predictors for subject-specific rTMS response in major depressive disorder. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 299, 207-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.12.005</u>
- Niogi, S., Mukherjee, P., Ghajar, J., & McCandliss, B. D. (2010). Individual Differences in Distinct Components of Attention are Linked to Anatomical Variations in Distinct White Matter Tracts. *Front Neuroanat*, 4, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.05.002.2010</u>
- O'Doherty, D. C. M., Ryder, W., Paquola, C., Tickell, A., Chan, C., Hermens, D. F., Bennett, M. R., & Lagopoulos, J. (2018). White matter integrity alterations in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Human Brain Mapping*, 39(3), 1327-1338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23920</u>
- Olive, I., Densmore, M., Harricharan, S., Theberge, J., McKinnon, M. C., & Lanius, R. (2018). Superior colliculus resting state networks in post-traumatic stress disorder and its dissociative subtype. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39(1), 563-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23865</u>
- Orru, G., Bertelloni, D., Cesari, V., Conversano, C., & Gemignani, A. (2021). Targeting temporal parietal junction for assessing and treating disembodiment phenomena: a systematic review of TMS effect on depersonalization and derealization disorders (DPD) and body illusions. *AIMS Neurosci*, 8(2), 181-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/Neuroscience.2021009</u>
- Owen, J. P., Marco, E. J., Desai, S., Fourie, E., Harris, J., Hill, S. S., Arnett, A. B., & Mukherjee, P. (2013). Abnormal white matter microstructure in children with sensory processing disorders. *Neuroimage-Clinical*, 2, 844-853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2013.06.009
- Özdemir, B., Celik, C., & Oznur, T. (2015). Assessment of dissociation among combat-exposed soldiers with and without posttraumatic stress disorder. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 2665710.3402/ejpt.v6.26657
- Özdemir, O., Özdemir, P. G., Boysan, M., & Yilmaz, E. (2015). The Relationships Between Dissociation, Attention, and Memory Dysfunction. *Noropsikiyatri Arsivi-Archives of Neuropsychiatry*, *52*(1), 36-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.5152/npa.2015.7390</u>
- Pietrzak, R. H., Huang, Y., Corsi-Travali, S., Zheng, M. Q., Lin, S. F., Henry, S., Potenza, M. N., Piomelli, D., Carson, R. E., & Neumeister, A. (2014). Cannabinoid type 1 receptor availability in the amygdala mediates threat processing in trauma survivors. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(11), 2519-2528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.110</u>
- Piras, F., Vecchio, D., Kurth, F., Piras, F., Banaj, N., Ciullo, V., Luders, E., & Spalletta, G. (2021). Corpus callosum morphology in major mental disorders: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *Brain Commun*, 3(2), fcab100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcab100</u>
- Polizzi, C. P., Aksen, D. E., & Lynn, S. J. (2022). Quality of Life, Emotion Regulation, and Dissociation: Evaluating Unique Relations in an Undergraduate Sample and Probable PTSD Subsample. *Psychological Trauma-Theory Research Practice and Policy*, 14(1), 107-115. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000904

- Pomponio, R., Erus, G., Habes, M., Doshi, J., Srinivasan, D., Mamourian, E., Bashyam, V., Nasrallah, I. M., Satterthwaite, T. D., Fan, Y., Launer, L. J., Masters, C. L., Maruff, P., Zhuo, C. J., Völzke, H., Johnson, S. C., Fripp, J., Koutsouleris, N., Wolf, D. H., . . . Davatzikos, C. (2020). Harmonization of large MRI datasets for the analysis of brain imaging patterns throughout the lifespan. *Neuroimage*, 208. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 11645010.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116450
- Price, C. J., & Hooven, C. (2018). Interoceptive Awareness Skills for Emotion Regulation: Theory and Approach of Mindful Awareness in Body-Oriented Therapy (MABT). *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 798. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00798</u>
- Rabellino, D., Densmore, M., Harricharan, S., Jean, T., McKinnon, M. C., & Lanius, R. A. (2018). Resting-state functional connectivity of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in post-traumatic stress disorder and its dissociative subtype. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39(3), 1367-1379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23925</u>
- Rabellino, D., Densmore, M., Theberge, J., McKinnon, M. C., & Lanius, R. A. (2018). The cerebellum after trauma: Resting-state functional connectivity of the cerebellum in posttraumatic stress disorder and its dissociative subtype. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39(8), 3354-3374. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24081
- Ragland, J. D., Turetsky, B. I., Gur, R. C., Gunning-Dixon, F., Turner, T., Schroeder, L., Chan, R., & Gur, R. E. (2002). Working memory for complex figures: an fMRI comparison of letter and fractal n-back tasks. *Neuropsychology*, *16*(3), 370-379. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12146684</u>
- Reber, J., Hwang, K., Bowren, M., Bruss, J., Mukherjee, P., Tranel, D., & Boes, A. D. (2021). Cognitive impairment after focal brain lesions is better predicted by damage to structural than functional network hubs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(19). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> e201878411810.1073/pnas.2018784118
- Renard, S. B., Huntjens, R. J. C., Lysaker, P. H., Moskowitz, A., Aleman, A., & Pijnenborg, G. H. M. (2017). Unique and Overlapping Symptoms in Schizophrenia Spectrum and Dissociative Disorders in Relation to Models of Psychopathology: A Systematic Review. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 43(1), 108-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbw063</u>
- Riebe, C. J., Pamplona, F. A., Kamprath, K., & Wotjak, C. T. (2012). Fear relief-toward a new conceptual frame work and what endocannabinoids gotta do with it. *Neuroscience*, 204, 159-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.057</u>
- Roalf, D. R., Quarmley, M., Elliott, M. A., Satterthwaite, T. D., Vandekar, S. N., Ruparel, K., Gennatas, E. D., Calkins, M. E., Moore, T. M., Hopson, R., Prabhakaran, K., Jackson, C. T., Verma, R., Hakonarson, H., Gur, R. C., & Gur, R. E. (2016). The impact of quality assurance assessment on diffusion tensor imaging outcomes in a large-scale populationbased cohort. *Neuroimage*, *125*, 903-919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.068
- Robinson, E. A., Gleeson, J., Arun, A. H., Clemente, A., Gaillard, A., Rossetti, M. G., Brambilla, P., Bellani, M., Crisanti, C., Curran, H. V., & Lorenzetti, V. (2023). Measuring white matter microstructure in 1,457 cannabis users and 1,441 controls: A systematic review of diffusion-weighted MRI studies. *Front Neuroimaging*, 2, 1129587. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnimg.2023.1129587

- Ruglass, L. M., Papini, S., Trub, L., & Hien, D. A. (2014). Psychometric Properties of the Modified Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Scale among Women with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Substance Use Disorders Receiving Outpatient Group Treatments. J Trauma Stress Disord Treat, 4(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2324-8947.1000139</u>
- Sar, V. (2014). The many faces of dissociation: opportunities for innovative research in psychiatry. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci*, 12(3), 171-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2014.12.3.171</u>
- Schauer, M., & Elbert, T. (2010). Dissociation following traumatic stress: Etiology and treatment. Zeitschrift für Psychologie/Journal of Psychology, 218(2), 109-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0044-3409/a000018</u>
- Schwartz, A. C., Bradley, R. L., Sexton, M., Sherry, A., & Ressler, K. J. (2005). Posttraumatic stress disorder among African Americans in an inner city mental health clinic. *Psychiatric Services*, 56(2), 212-215. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1176/appi.ps.56.2.212
- Sel, R. (1997). Dissociation as complex adaptation. *Medical Hypotheses*, 48(3), 205-208. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0306-9877(97)90307-8
- Selvi, Y., Kilic, S., Aydin, A., & Guzel Ozdemir, P. (2015). The Effects of Sleep Deprivation on Dissociation and Profiles of Mood, and Its Association with Biochemical Changes. Noro Psikiyatr Ars, 52(1), 83-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.5152/npa.2015.7116</u>
- Siehl, S., King, J. A., Burgess, N., Flor, H., & Nees, F. (2018). Structural white matter changes in adults and children with posttraumatic stress disorder: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neuroimage Clin*, 19, 581-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2018.05.013</u>
- Sierk, A., Daniels, J. K., Manthey, A., Kok, J. G., Leemans, A., Gaebler, M., Lamke, J. P., Kruschwitz, J., & Walter, H. (2018). White matter network alterations in patients with depersonalization/derealization disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 43(5), 347-357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.170110</u>
- Sierk, A., Manthey, A., Brakemeier, E. L., Walter, H., & Daniels, J. K. (2021). The dissociative subtype of posttraumatic stress disorder is associated with subcortical white matter network alterations. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 15(2), 643-655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-020-00274-x</u>
- Sierra, M., & Berrios, G. E. (1998). Depersonalization: neurobiological perspectives. *Biol Psychiatry*, 44(9), 898-908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(98)00015-8</u>
- Smith, M. (2015). Neurobiology and treatment of traumatic dissociation: Toward an embodied self. *Arch Womens Ment Health*, *18*(2), 265-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-014-0487-7</u>
- Smith, S. M. (2002). Fast robust automated brain extraction. *Hum Brain Mapp*, *17*(3), 143-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10062</u>
- Smith, S. M., Jenkinson, M., Johansen-Berg, H., Rueckert, D., Nichols, T. E., Mackay, C. E., Watkins, K. E., Ciccarelli, O., Cader, M. Z., Matthews, P. M., & Behrens, T. E. (2006). Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *Neuroimage*, 31(4), 1487-1505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.02.024</u>
- Snowden, L. R. (2001). Barriers to effective mental health services for African Americans. *Ment Health Serv Res*, 3(4), 181-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1013172913880</u>
- Sperling, G. (1960). The information available in brief visual presentations. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 74(11), 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093759</u>

- Spiegel, D., Loewenstein, R. J., Lewis-Fernández, R., Sar, V., Simeon, D., Vermetten, E., Cardeña, E., & Dell, P. F. (2011). Dissociative Disorders in Dsm-5. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28(9), 824-852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20874</u>
- Stave, E. A., De Bellis, M. D., Hooper, S. R., Woolley, D. P., Chang, S. K., & Chen, S. D. (2017). Dimensions of Attention Associated With the Microstructure of Corona Radiata White Matter. J Child Neurol, 32(5), 458-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073816685652</u>
- Taylor, S. F., Liberzon, I., Fig, L. M., Decker, L. R., Minoshima, S., & Koeppe, R. A. (1998). The Effect of Emotional Content on Visual Recognition Memory: A PET Activation Study. *Neuroimage*, 8(2), 188-197. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1998.0356
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N. (2016). Intra- and Inter-hemispheric Connectivity Supporting Hemispheric Specialization. In H. Kennedy, D. C. Van Essen, & Y. Christen (Eds.), *Micro-, Meso- and Macro-Connectomics of the Brain* (pp. 129-146). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27777-6_9</u>
- Upadhyay, J., Maleki, N., Potter, J., Elman, I., Rudrauf, D., Knudsen, J., Wallin, D., Pendse, G., McDonald, L., Griffin, M., Anderson, J., Nutile, L., Renshaw, P., Weiss, R., Becerra, L., & Borsook, D. (2010). Alterations in brain structure and functional connectivity in prescription opioid-dependent patients. *Brain*, 133(Pt 7), 2098-2114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq138</u>
- Vakil, E., & Blachstein, H. (1993). Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test: structure analysis. J Clin Psychol, 49(6), 883-890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(199311)49:6</u><883::aidjclp2270490616>3.0.co;2-6
- Vallet, G. T., Hudon, C., Bier, N., Macoir, J., Versace, R., & Simard, M. (2017). A SEMantic and episodic memory test (SEMEP) developed within the embodied cognition framework: Application to normal aging, Alzheimer's disease and semantic dementia. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01493</u>
- van der Kolk, B. A. (1989). The compulsion to repeat the trauma. Re-enactment, revictimization, and masochism. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 12(2), 389-411. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2664732</u>
- van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Schuengel, C. (1996). The measurement of dissociation in normal and clinical populations: Meta-analytic validation of the Dissociative Experiences Scale (DES). *Clinical Psychology Review*, 16(5), 365-382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7358(96)00006-2</u>
- Vancappel, A., Guerin, L., Réveillère, C., & El-Hage, W. (2021). Disentangling the link between mindfulness and dissociation: The mediating role of attention and emotional acceptance. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 5(4). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 10022010.1016/j.ejtd.2021.100220
- Vancappel, A., Reveillere, C., & El-Hage, W. (2022). Cognitive Behavior Therapy (CBT) for dissociative subtype PTSD: A case study. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 6(4). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 10029010.1016/j.ejtd.2022.100290
- Vergani, F., Ghimire, P., Rajashekhar, D., Dell'acqua, F., & Lavrador, J. P. (2021). Superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) I and II: an anatomical and functional review. *J Neurosurg Sci*, 65(6), 560-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.23736/S0390-5616.21.05327-3</u>

- Waller, N. G., & Ross, C. A. (1997). The prevalence and biometric structure of pathological dissociation in the general population: taxometric and behavior genetic findings. J Abnorm Psychol, 106(4), 499-510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843x.106.4.499</u>
- Wang, T., Huang, X. L., Huang, P. Y., Li, D., Lv, F. J., Zhang, Y., Zhou, L. K., Yang, D. Y., & Xie, P. (2013). Early-Stage Psychotherapy Produces Elevated Frontal White Matter Integrity in Adult Major Depressive Disorder. *Plos One*, 8(4). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> e6308110.1371/journal.pone.0063081
- Wang, Z. Y., Hui, Q., Goldberg, J., Smith, N., Kaseer, B., Murrah, N., Levantsevych, O. M., Shallenberger, L., Diggers, E., Bremner, J. D., Vaccarino, V., & Sun, Y. V. (2022). Association Between Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Epigenetic Age Acceleration in a Sample of Twins. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 84(2), 151-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/Psy.00000000001028</u>
- Weathers, F. W., Blake, D. D., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., Marx, B. P., & Keane, T. M. (2013). The Life Events Checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5). Instrument available from the National Center for PTSD at <u>www.ptsd.va.gov</u>.
- Weathers, F. W., Bovin, M. J., Lee, D. J., Sloan, D. M., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., Keane, T. M., & Marx, B. P. (2018). The Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (CAPS-5): Development and initial psychometric evaluation in military veterans. *Psychol Assess*, 30(3), 383-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000486</u>
- Weathers, F. W., Litz, B. T., Keane, T. M., Palmieri, P. A., Marx, B. P., & Schnurr, P. P. (2013). The PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5) - Standard. Scale available from the National Center for PTSD at <u>www.ptsd.va.gov</u>.
- Webermann, A. R., Myrick, A. C., Taylor, C. L., Chasson, G. S., & Brand, B. L. (2016). Dissociative, depressive, and PTSD symptom severity as correlates of nonsuicidal selfinjury and suicidality in dissociative disorder patients. *J Trauma Dissociation*, 17(1), 67-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2015.1067941</u>
- Woolrich, M. W., Jbabdi, S., Patenaude, B., Chappell, M., Makni, S., Behrens, T., Beckmann, C., Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. M. (2009). Bayesian analysis of neuroimaging data in FSL. *Neuroimage*, 45(1), S173-S186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.10.055</u>
- Yakar, F., Eroglu, U., Peker, E., Armagan, E., Comert, A., & Ugur, H. C. (2018). Structure of corona radiata and tapetum fibers in ventricular surgery. *J Clin Neurosci*, 57, 143-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2018.08.041</u>
- Yin, Y., Li, M., Li, C., Ma, X., Yan, J., Wang, T., Fu, S., Hua, K., Wu, Y., Zhan, W., & Jiang, G. (2018). Reduced White Matter Integrity With Cognitive Impairments in End Stage Renal Disease. *Front Psychiatry*, 9, 143. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00143</u>
- Yoshii, T. (2021). The Role of the Thalamus in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22041730</u>
- Zhao, G. R., Lau, W. K. W., Wang, C. Y., Yan, H. F., Zhang, C. C., Lin, K. G., Qiu, S. J., Huang, R. W., & Zhang, R. B. (2022). A Comparative Multimodal Meta-analysis of Anisotropy and Volume Abnormalities in White Matter in People Suffering From Bipolar Disorder or Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 48(1), 69-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbab093</u>
- Zikopoulos, B., & Barbas, H. (2006). Prefrontal projections to the thalamic reticular nucleus form a unique circuit for attentional mechanisms. *J Neurosci*, *26*(28), 7348-7361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5511-05.2006</u>

- Zikopoulos, B., & Barbas, H. (2007). Parallel driving and modulatory pathways link the prefrontal cortex and thalamus. *Plos One*, *2*(9), e848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000848</u>
- Zucker, M., Spinazzola, J., Blaustein, M., & van der Kolk, B. A. (2006). Dissociative symptomatology in posttraumatic stress disorder and disorders of extreme stress. *J Trauma Dissociation*, 7(1), 19-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v07n01_03</u>

1A. Trauma	types assessed	with the Life	
	· / p • c • c c • c c • c • c		

Events Checklist (n = 48)

1B. Trauma	types	assessed	with the	Traumatic

Events Inventory (n = 87)

Trauma Type % (<i>n</i>)		Trauma Type	% (<i>n</i>)	
Natural Disaster	27.1 (13)	Natural Disaster	29.9 (26)	
Fire or Explosion	8.3 (4)	Serious Accident or Injury	57.5 (50)	
Transportation Accident	45.8 (22)	Sudden Life-Threatening	20 7 (10)	
Serious Accident 18.8 (9)		Illness	20.7 (18)	
Toxic Substance Exposure	4.2 (2)	Violence without a Weapon	79.3 (69)	
Physical Assault	41.7 (20)	Violence with a Weapon	43.7 (38)	
Assault with a Weapon	14.6 (7)	Childhood Physical Abuse	50.6 (44)	
Sexual Assault	83.3 (40)	Childhood Sexual Abuse	43.7 (38)	
Combat or War	0.0 (0)	Sexual Assault		
Captivity	2.1 (1)		26.4 (23)	

1C. Trauma types endorsed among all participants (n = 135)

Trauma Type	% (<i>n</i>)
Natural Disaster	29.1 (39)
Serious Accident or Injury	53.7 (72)
Violence without a Weapon	55.6 (75)
Violence with a Weapon	32.8 (45)
Sexual Assault	47.0 (63)

	Scanner 1	Scanner 2	Scanner 3	Scanner 4	Scanner 5
Scanner Type	TIM-Trio	TIM-Trio	Prisma ^{fit}	Prisma ^{fit}	TIM-Trio
Software	MR_VB17A	syngo MR B17	syngo_MR_E 11	syngo MR XA30	MR_VB17A
Head Coil	HeadMatrix_ 12 Coil	HeadMatrix_ 12 Coil	32-Channel	32-Channel	HeadMatrix_ 12 Coil
Number of Subjects	31	7	32	16	49
T1- Weighted Modality	TR = 2600ms, TE = 3.02ms, TI = 900ms, Flip angle = 8 deg, Slices = 176, FOV = 256mm, Voxel size = 1.0mm x 1.0mm x 1.0mm	TR = 2600ms, TE = 3.02ms, TI = 900ms, Flip angle = 8 deg, Slices = 176, FOV = 256mm, Voxel size = 1.0mm x 1.0mm x 1.0mm	TR = 2500ms, TE = 2.22ms, TI = 1000ms, Flip angle = 8 deg, Slices = 208, FOV = 256mm, Voxel size = 0.8mm x 0.8mm x 0.8mm	TR = 2500ms, TE = 2.22ms, TI = 1000ms, Flip angle = 8 deg, Slices = 208, FOV = 256mm, Voxel size = 0.8mm x 0.8mm x 0.8mm	TR = 2600ms, TE = 3.02ms, TI = 900ms, Flip angle = 8 deg, Slices = 176, FOV = 256mm, Voxel size = 1.0mm x 1.0mm x 1.0mm
Diffusion - Weighted Modality	Maximum gradient strength = $40mTm^{-1}$, thick axial slices = $39 x$ 2.5 mm, matrix = $128 x$ 128, FOV = 220 x 220 mm, Voxel size = 1.72 x 1.72 x 2.5 mm	Maximum gradient strength = $40mTm^{-1}$, thick axial slices = $40 x$ 2.5 mm, matrix = $128 x$ 128, FOV = 220 x 220 mm, Voxel size = 1.72 x 1.72 x 2.5 mm	Maximum gradient strength = $40mTm^{-1}$, thick axial slices = 40 x 2.5 mm, matrix = 128 x 128 , FOV = $220 \text{ x } 220$ mm, Voxel size = 1.72 x 1.72 x 2.5 mm	Maximum gradient strength = $40mTm^{-1}$, thick axial slices = $39 x$ 2.5 mm, matrix = 128 x 128 , FOV = $220 x 220$ mm, Voxel size = $1.72 x$ 1.72 x 2.5 mm	Maximum gradient strength = 40mTm ⁻¹ , thick axial slices = 39 x 2.5 mm, matrix = 128 x 128, FOV = 220 x 220 mm, Voxel size = 1.72 x 1.72 x 2.5 mm
Location	Biomedical Imaging Technology	Center for Advanced Brain Imaging	Center for Advanced Brain	Center for Advanced Brain	Center for Systems Imaging at

 Table 2. Scanner details and acquisition parameters

	Center at Emory University	at Georgia Institute of Technology	Imaging at Georgia Institute of Technology	Imaging at Georgia Institute of Technology	Emory University
Dates of Use	May 2012 - May 2014	November 2015 - October 2017	October 2021 - August 2022	November 2022 - May 2023	April 2014 - February 2017
Study	GTP ^a	MIND Pilot ^b	MIND ^c	MIND ^c	GTP ^a

GTP=Grady Trauma Project

MIND=Mechanistic Interventions and Neuroscience of Dissociation

^a 80 participants were recruited from GTP studies, including K23MH101380, R01MH071537, and R01MH094757

^b 7 participants were recruited from a clinical trial for PTSD (baseline scan) at Emory University (Fani et al., 2023)

^c 48 participants were recruited from a clinical trial for dissociation (baseline scan) at Emory University (MIND; NCT04670640, recruitment dates between 09/01/2020 and 11/01/2023; study end date is 08/31/2025). The MIND study is an ongoing multi-site trial, and the 48 participants included were those from the Atlanta/GTP site who completed pre-intervention MRI scans before 11/01/2023, which is when statistical analyses began

Figure 1. Masks of white matter pathways of interest



A. Tracts from the Juelich Histological Atlas (Burgel et al., 2006): fornix (yellow)

B. Tracts from the ICBM-DTI-81 white-matter labels atlas (Mori et al., 2005): external capsule (red), internal capsule (green blue), and corona radiata (blue)

C. Tracts from the probabilistic Johns Hopkins University White Matter Atlas (Hua et al., 2008): corpus callosum (light blue), thalamic radiation (maroon), uncinate fasciculus (green), superior longitudinal fasciculus (orange), anterior cingulum (purple), and posterior cingulum (pink)

	Scanner 1 (<i>n</i> =31)		Scanner	Scanner 2 (<i>n</i> =7)		Scanner 3 (<i>n</i> =32)		Scanner 4 (<i>n</i> =16)		Scanner 5 (<i>n</i> =49)	
	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	
Corpus Callosum	.55	.025	.60	.026	.63	.017	.64	.015	.56	.027	
Anterior Cingulum	.48	.024	.53	.012	.55	.018	.55	.015	.49	.026	
Posterior Cingulum	.44	.026	.52	.017	.49	.022	.48	.019	.42	.022	
Fornix	.44	.024	.50	.017	.49	.021	.49	.018	.44	.026	
Corona Radiata	.47	.028	.51	.028	.54	.020	.55	.016	.48	.026	
Internal Capsule	.62	.025	.65	.019	.69	.017	.70	.013	.63	.025	
External Capsule	.40	.022	.42	.018	.50	.020	.50	.016	.41	.024	
Thalamic Radiation	.47	.020	.52	.016	.53	.016	.54	.013	.48	.022	
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	.44	.019	.48	.015	.51	.017	.51	.015	.45	.023	
Uncinate Fasciculus	.41	.021	.47	.019	.49	.018	.49	.016	.43	.022	
tSNR	7.52	.45	7.45	.54	9.96	.47	9.43	.38	7.79	.69	

Table 3. Mean and standard deviation of tSNR values and fractional anisotropy for all tracts, all scanners, before harmonization

tSNR = temporal signal-to-noise ratio

	<u>% (n)</u>
Race	
Asian	0.7 (1)
Black or African American	83.7 (113)
Hispanic	2.2 (3)
White	13.3 (18)
Ethnicity	
Hispanic	5.9 (8)
Not Hispanic	94.1 (127)
Education	
< 12th grade	8.9 (12)
High school graduate/GED	25.9 (35)
Some college or technical school	37.0 (50)
Technical school graduate/associate degree	6.7 (9)
College graduate	12.6 (17)
Graduate or professional degree	8.9 (12)
Monthly Income	
\$0 - 249	11.9 (16)
\$250 - 499	8.1 (11)
\$500 - 999	16.3 (22)
\$1,000 - 1,999	28.1 (38)
\$2,000+	33.3 (45)
Prefer not to say	2.2 (3)
Employment Status	
Employed	43.7 (59)
Disability Recipient	8.9 (12)
Psychotropic Medication Usage	15.6 (21)
Antidepressant	12.6 (17)
Anticonvulsant	4.4 (6)
Stimulant	1.5 (2)
Antihistamine	3.0 (4)
Anxiolytic	0.7 (1)
Benzodiazepine	1.5 (2)
Opioid	0.7 (1)
Antipsychotic	0.7 (1)
	Mean (SD)
MDI Total	59.99 (23.72)
Disengagement	13.41 (5.66)
Depersonalization	9.27 (4.93)
Derealization	10.19 (4.97)

Emotional Constriction/Numbing	11.05 (5.71)
Memory Disturbance	9.74 (4.52)
Identity Dissociation	6.33 (3.38)
mPSS ^a Total	15.18 (13.49)
Reexperiencing	4.07 (4.12)
Avoidance and Numbing	5.69 (5.80)
Hyperarousal	5.42 (4.52)
PCL-5 ^b Total	39.85 (13.50)
Cluster B	8.75 (4.06)
Cluster C	5.06 (2.18)
Cluster D	14.67 (6.12)
Cluster E	11.38 (4.42)
Harmonized PTSD Symptoms	30.16 (19.71)
TEI Experienced Total ^a	3.74 (2.47)
LEC-5 Experienced Total ^b	3.25 (1.79)

MDI = Multiscale Dissociation Inventory

mPSS = modified PTSD Symptom Scale

PCL-5 = PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5*

PTSD = posttraumatic stress disorder

TEI = Traumatic Events Inventory

LEC-5 = Life Events Checklist for *DSM-5*

^a n = 87

^b n = 48

		PCL-5	Disengagement	Depersonalization	Derealization	Emotion Constriction	Memory Disturbance
Disengagement	r	.61 **					
	р	<.001					
Depersonalization	r	.60 **	.66 **				
	р	<.001	<.001				
Derealization	r	.64 **	.66 **	.81 **			
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001			
Emotion Constriction	r	.64 **	.60 **	.71 **	.68 **		
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		
Memory Disturbance	r	.52 **	.75 **	.61 **	.66 **	.53 **	
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	
Identity Dissociation	r	.32 **	.28 *	.45 **	.39 **	.40 **	.37 **
	р	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

Table 5. Correlations between harmonized PTSD symptom scores and Multiscale Dissociation Inventory Subscale Scores

* Uncorrected p < .05, ** Uncorrected p < .001

PSTD = posttraumatic stress disorder

PCL-5 = PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5*

				<u>Traumas E</u>	xperienced		
		Age	PTSD ^a	TEI Total ^b	LEC Total ^c	Education ^d	Income ^{d,e}
Corpus Callosum	r	16	29 **	19	04	17 *	.00
	р	.06	<.001	.08	.80	.05	.99
Anterior Cingulum	r	20 *	25 **	17	02	14	.03
	р	.02	.004	.13	.91	.11	.73
Posterior Cingulum	r	15	.03	05	03	.10	.17
	р	.08	.74	.66	.84	.23	.05
Fornix	r	10	20 *	13	05	.04	03
	р	.24	.02	.24	.76	.66	.78
Corona Radiata	r	21 *	29 **	18	08	20 *	.00
	р	.02	<.001	.09	.61	.02	.99
Internal Capsule	r	13	11	01	22	03	.10
	р	.12	.22	.92	.14	.75	.28
External Capsule	r	42 **	02	04	03	.04	.16
	р	<.001	.79	.72	.86	.66	.08
Thalamic Radiation	r	29 **	21 *	12	08	04	.09
	р	<.001	.02	.27	.60	.64	.34
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	r	29 **	23 *	10	06	06	.08
	р	<.001	.01	.34	.71	.53	.39
Uncinate Fasciculus	r	44 **	04	14	.06	02	.12
	р	<.001	.62	.21	.68	.83	.17
PSTD=posttraumatic stres	ss di	sorder	^a h	armonized PC	CL-5 total score	re	

Table 6. Correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and clinical and *demographic characteristics*

TEI=Traumatic Events Inventory

LEC=Life Events Checklist for DSM-5

* uncorrected p < .05

^c n = 47^d Spearman's rho

^b n = 87

** uncorrected p < .001

^e data missing for three participants



Figure 2. Associations among dissociation and white matter microstructure (N=135).

Partial correlations between MDI total and subscale scores and fractional anisotropy, age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio covaried. * $p_{FDR} < .05$



Figure 3. Significant associations among dissociation symptoms and tract FA.

Scatterplots include residuals of fractional anisotropy values and Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI) total scores after covarying age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio. Following residualizing, these distributions were shifted back to their original scales to match the minimum value for the original distribution. Masks of the tracts are highlighted in color: corona radiata in blue, corpus callosum in red, superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) in orange, and thalamic radiation in green. MDI Total Score partial correlation scatter plots with fitted regression lines

are as follows: [A] corona radiata FA (r = -.39, $p_{FDR} < .001$), [B] corpus callosum FA (r = -.35, $p_{FDR} < .001$), [C] SLF FA (r = -.31, $p_{FDR} = .001$), [D] thalamic radiation FA (r = -.31, $p_{FDR} = .001$).

				Multiscale Dissoc	tiation Inventory	, -		
		Total	Disengagement	Depersonalization	Derealization	Emotion	Memory	Identity
Corpus Callosum	r	35 *	41 *	32 *	28 *	18	37 *	04
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.04	<.001	.64
	p _{FDR}	<.001	<.001	.001	.003	.06	<.001	.71
Anterior Cingulum	r	30 *	36 *	29 *	24 *	11	34 *	06
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	.006	.20	<.001	.48
	p FDR	.002	<.001	.003	.02	.28	<.001	.57
Posterior Cingulum	r	.03	.04	.07	.07	.06	09	02
	р	.72	.67	.44	.46	.51	.31	.87
	p FDR	.75	.72	.54	.55	.60	.38	.89
Fornix	r	23 *	29 *	22 *	20 *	10	23 *	01
	р	.008	<.001	.01	.02	.25	.008	.90
	p FDR	.02	.003	.03	.04	.33	.02	.90
Corona Radiata	r	39 *	43 *	37 *	31 *	22 *	40 *	05
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.01	<.001	.56
	p FDR	<.001	<.001	<.001	.001	.02	<.001	.64

Table 7. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and Multiscale Dissociation Inventory scores with age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio as covariates

Internal Capsule	r	18	20 *	16	13	11	23 *	01
	р	.04	.02	.07	.13	.23	.01	.90
	p FDR	.06	.04	.10	.18	.31	.02	.90
External Capsule	r	19	09	16	11	15	24 *	14
	р	.03	.29	.06	.23	.08	.006	.11
	p _{FDR}	.06	.37	.09	.31	.12	.02	.17
Thalamic Radiation	r	31 *	34 *	27 *	25 *	18	35 *	04
	р	<.001	<.001	.001	.004	.04	<.001	.65
	p _{FDR}	.001	<.001	.004	.01	.06	<.001	.71
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	r	31 *	32 *	27 *	26 *	21 *	35 *	04
	р	<.001	<.001	.002	.004	.02	<.001	.61
	p FDR	.001	<.001	.005	.01	.03	<.001	.69
Uncinate Fasciculus	r	19 *	18	17	12	11	39 *	03
	р	.03	.04	.05	.16	.23	<.001	.70
	p fdr	.05	.06	.06	.23	.31	.002	.74

* FDR-corrected p < .05

				Multiscale Dissociation Inventory					
		Total	Disengagement	Depersonalization	Derealization	Emotion	Memory	Identity	
Corpus Callosum	r	17	29 *	17	10	.04	24	.07	
	р	.05	<.001	.06	.25	.65	.005	.45	
	p FDR	.20	.03	.25	.44	.78	.05	.64	
Anterior Cingulum	r	14	24	14	07	.10	23	.03	
	р	.12	.006	.10	.43	.27	.01	.88	
	p FDR	.33	.05	.30	.63	.46	.06	.96	
Posterior Cingulum	r	.03	.04	.08	.08	.07	11	02	
	р	.70	.66	.38	.39	.46	.21	.83	
	p FDR	.80	.78	.60	.59	.64	.43	.88	
Fornix	r	09	19	10	07	.06	13	.06	
	р	.29	.03	.25	.43	.49	.13	.47	
	p FDR	.48	.13	.44	.62	.66	.35	.64	
Corona Radiata	r	22	29 *	22	13	01	28 *	.06	
	р	.01	<.001	.01	.15	.88	.001	.51	
	p FDR	.08	.03	.08	.38	.91	.03	.69	

Table 8. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and Multiscale Dissociation Inventory scores with age, temporal signal-to-noise ratio, and harmonized PCL-5 scores as covariates

Internal Capsule	r	14	16	11	08	04	20	.03
	р	.11	.07	.20	.39	.65	.02	.77
	p FDR	.31	.23	.42	.60	.78	.10	.83
External Capsule	r	14	03	12	04	10	21	11
	р	.10	.76	.18	.65	.25	.02	.21
	p _{FDR}	.31	.83	.41	.78	.44	.10	.43
Thalamic Radiation	r	17	23	14	09	01	24	.05
	р	.06	.01	.11	.29	.95	.005	.58
	p _{FDR}	.22	.06	.31	.48	.95	.05	.74
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	r	16	19	12	10	03	24	.05
	р	.07	.03	.17	.25	.70	.006	.58
	p _{FDR}	.23	.13	.39	.44	.80	.05	.74
Uncinate Fasciculus	r	12	12	10	03	01	25	.01
	р	.16	.19	.25	.71	.90	.004	.88
	p _{FDR}	.39	.41	.44	.80	.91	.05	.91

* FDR-corrected p < .05

PCL-5 = PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5*

				Multiscale Disso	ciation Inventory	<u>r</u>		
		Total	Disengagement	Depersonalization	Derealization	Emotion	Memory	Identit
Corpus Callosum	r	38 *	41 *	37 *	33 *	24 *	37 *	13
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.01	<.001	.16
	p fdr	<.001	<.001	<.001	.002	.03	<.001	.20
Anterior Cingulum	r	33 *	34 *	35 *	28 *	20	32 *	15
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	.003	.04	<.001	.12
	p _{FDR}	.001	.001	.001	.01	.06	.003	.16
Posterior Cingulum	r	.02	.01	.06	.08	.04	04	06
	р	.83	.94	.55	.42	.72	.65	.55
	p FDR	.84	.94	.60	.47	.74	.68	.60
Fornix	r	26 *	30 *	27 *	22 *	16	24 *	06
	р	.006	.002	.004	.02	.09	.01	.56
	p _{FDR}	.01	.005	.01	.04	.13	.03	.60
Corona Radiata	r	42 *	43 *	40 *	36 *	29 *	39 *	17
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.002	<.001	.08
	p FDR	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.01	<.001	.11

Table 9. Partial correlations between harmonized tract fractional anisotropy and Multiscale Dissociation Inventory scores with age and temporal signal-to-noise ratio as covariates including only participants who identified as Black

Internal Capsule	r	21 *	20	21	16	15	23 *	08
	р	.03	.04	.03	.09	.11	.02	.38
	p FDR	.05	.06	.05	.13	.15	.03	.43
External Capsule	r	18	09	17	10	17	20	18
	р	.06	.35	.07	.28	.07	.04	.06
	p _{FDR}	.09	.40	.13	.33	.11	.06	.09
Thalamic Radiation	r	34 *	34 *	31 *	28 *	22 *	34 *	14
	р	<.001	<.001	<.001	.003	.02	<.001	.13
	p _{FDR}	.001	.001	.003	.01	.05	.001	.16
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	r	34 *	35 *	29 *	29 *	24 *	33 *	13
	р	<.001	<.001	.002	.002	.01	<.001	.18
	p _{FDR}	.001	.001	.005	.01	.03	.002	.21
Uncinate Fasciculus	r	21	16	20	15	13	26 *	15
	р	.03	.11	.03	.12	.17	.01	.12
	p _{FDR}	.05	.14	.06	.16	.20	.01	.16

* FDR-corrected p < .05

	PCL-5 on MDI Effect		MDI on F	A Effect	Total Effect Direct Effect		Standardized Indirect Effect				
	а	SE	b	SE	с	SE	c'	SE	a x b	CI lower	CI upper
Corpus Callosum	.7778**	.0703	0003*	.0001	0004**	.0001	0002	.0001	1596 [†]	3028	0202
Anterior Cingulum	.7778**	.0703	0002	.0001	0003**	.0001	0002	.0001	1224	2844	.0296
Posterior Cingulum	.7778**	.0703	.0001	.0001	.0000	.0001	0001	.0001	.0459	1097	.2010
Fornix	.7778**	.0703	0001	.0001	0003*	.0001	0002	.0001	0925	2518	.0589
Corona Radiata	.7778**	.0703	0003*	.0001	0004**	.0001	0002	.0001	1907 [†]	3493	0369
Internal Capsule	.7778**	.0703	0002	.0001	0001	.0001	.0000	.0001	1113	2911	.0611
External Capsule	.7778**	.0703	0002	.0001	0001	.0001	.0000	.0001	1214	2866	.0319
Thalamic Radiation	.7778**	.0703	0002	.0001	0003**	.0001	0001	.0001	1453 [†]	3023	0023
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	.7778**	.0703	0002	.0001	0003**	.0001	0002	.0001	1318	2772	.0065
Uncinate Fasciculus	.7778**	.0703	0001	.0001	0001	.0001	.0000	.0001	1098	2561	.0186

Table 10. Mediation analyses examining MDI score as a mediator of the relationship between PCL-5 score and harmonized tract FA

* Uncorrected p < .05, ** Uncorrected p < .005, † Significant Indirect Effect (bootstrapped confidence interval did not contain zero)

	MDI on PCL-5 Effect		PCL-5 on	PCL-5 on FA Effect Total Effect		Effect	Direct Effect		Standardized Indirect Effect		
	a	SE	b	SE	c	SE	c'	SE	a x b	CI lower	CI upper
Corpus Callosum	.6184**	.0559	0002	.0001	0004**	.0001	0003*	.0001	1307	2721	.0045
Anterior Cingulum	.6184**	.0559	0002	.0001	0003**	.0001	0002	.0001	1306	2838	.0120
Posterior Cingulum	.6184**	.0559	0001	.0001	.0000	.0001	.0001	.0001	0358	2042	.1221
Fornix	.6184**	.0559	0002	.0001	0003*	.0001	0001	.0001	1050	2597	.0522
Corona Radiata	.6184**	.0559	0002	.0001	0004**	.0001	0003*	.0001	1159	2702	.0289
Internal Capsule	.6184**	.0559	.0000	.0001	0002*	.0001	0002	.0001	.0207	2138	.1555
External Capsule	.6184**	.0559	.0000	.0001	0002*	.0001	0002	.0001	.0050	1545	.1704
Thalamic Radiation	.6184**	.0559	0001	.0001	0003**	.0001	0002	.0001	0997	2491	.0429
Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus	.6184**	.0559	0002	.0001	0003**	.0001	0002	.0001	1234	2743	.0140
Uncinate Fasciculus	.6184**	.0559	.0000	.0001	0002*	.0001	0001	.0001	0214	1528	.1136

Table 11. Mediation analyses examining PCL-5 score as a mediator of the relationship between MDI score and harmonized tract FA

* Uncorrected p < .05, ** Uncorrected p < .005, † Significant Indirect Effect (bootstrapped confidence interval did not contain zero)

				Multiscale Disso	ciation Inventory	<u>.</u>		
		Total	Disengagement	Depersonalization	Derealization	Emotion	Memory	Identity
LNB True Positives ^a	r	.07	.12	.15	.05	10	.04	.11
	р	.45	.19	.12	.58	.29	.70	.24
LNB False Positives ^a	r	15	25 **	14	09	06	12	03
	р	.11	.01	.14	.32	.53	.20	.78
LNB Median Response Time ^a	r	02	03	05	05	.10	13	.05
	р	.81	.77	.56	.58	.30	.17	.60
LNB-0 True Positives ^a	r	.05	.08	.13	.02	06	.05	.06
	р	.60	.41	.17	.83	.55	.62	.56
LNB-0 False Positives ^a	r	15	24 *	12	11	08	08	02
	р	.12	.01	.21	.24	.39	.38	.81
LNB-0 Median Response Time ^a	r	01	01	04	05	.09	12	.07
	р	.91	.92	.71	.62	.35	.19	.48
LNB-1 True Positives ^a	r	.12	.15	.11	.01	002	.16	.18
	р	.19	.11	.24	.91	.98	.08	.05
LNB-1 False Positives ^a	r	08	12	06	13	10	.07	14
	р	.37	.21	.52	.17	.28	.48	.15

Table 12. Partial correlations between Multiscale Dissociation Inventory scores and Letter N-Back Task Performance and CAPS-5 item D1 severity with age as a covariate

LNB-1 Median Response Time ^a	r	07	06	13	10	.07	14	.04
	р	.47	.50	.17	.28	.48	.15	.65
LNB-2 True Positives ^a	r	.01	.06	.09	.05	11	05	.03
	р	.90	.55	.32	.56	.25	.60	.72
LNB-2 False Positives ^a	r	06	12	09	02	.02	07	03
	р	.51	.22	.35	.81	.81	.49	.74
LNB-2 Median Response Time ^a	r	02	03	01	004	.02	09	.02
	р	.85	.76	.94	.96	.81	.36	.87
CAPS-5 D1 ^b	r	.25 **	.25 *	.25 *	.24 *	.13	.10	.25 *
	р	.01	.01	.01	.01	.21	.30	.01

* Uncorrected p < .05, ** Uncorrected p < .01, *** Uncorrected p < .005

LNB = letter n-back task

LNB-0 = 0-back trial for letter n-back task

LNB-1 = 1-back trial for letter n-back task

LNB-2 = 2-back trial for letter n-back task

CAPS-5 = PTSD Checklist for *DSM-5*

a = 116 participants

^b = 105 participants